### INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

HUMAN SETTLEMENTS WORKING PAPER SERIES POVERTY REDUCTION IN URBAN AREAS – 38

A future that low-income urban dwellers want, and can help secure

by DAVID SATTERTHWAITE and DIANA MITLIN



**MARCH 2013** 



# A future that low-income urban dwellers want, and can help secure

David Satterthwaite and Diana Mitlin

March 2013

#### **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

David Satterthwaite is a Senior Fellow at IIED, Honorary Professor at the University of Hull and a Visiting Professor at the Development Planning Unit, University College London, UK. He is also editor of the international journal *Environment and Urbanization*.

E-mail: <u>David.Satterthwaite@iied.org</u>

Diana Mitlin is an economist and social development specialist working at IIED, and a Professor at the University of Manchester, UK, working at the Global Urban Research Centre, the Institute for Development Policy and the Brooks World Poverty Institute.

E-mail: Diana.Mitlin@iied.org

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

This paper has been funded by UK Aid from the UK Government.



© IIED 2013

Human Settlements Group International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED) 80-86 Gray's Inn Road London WC1X 8NH, UK

Tel: 44 20 3463 7399 Fax: 44 20 3514 9055

ISBN: 978-1-84369-917-0

This paper can be downloaded free of charge from <a href="http://pubs.iied.org/10626IIED.html">http://pubs.iied.org/10626IIED.html</a>

Disclaimer: The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed here do not represent the views of any organizations that have provided institutional, organizational or financial support for the preparation of this paper.

## **CONTENTS**

1. Introduction	1
2. What is understood by urban poverty reduction?	6
3. Another way to reduce urban poverty	9
4. Universal access to good quality basic services	14
5. How are low-income households going to access basic services if these	
another market opportunity?	
6. Rethinking finance for development	
7. Is this a new paradigm for development funding?	
7.1 Can aid agencies and development banks support this?	20 21
8.1 Global discussions and urban poverty	
8.2 Development in urban areas depends on local institutions	
8.3 Who will address international goals and targets?	
8.5 Lack of attention to urban areas and their low-income residents	
8.6 Urban poverty reduction and climate change	
9. MDGs, post-MDGs and development assistance in an urbanizing world.	29
REFERENCES	31
FIGURES AND BOXES	
Figure 1: Deprivations associated with urban poverty and their immediate causes	
Box 1: ACHR and ACCA	4
Box 2: Shack/Slum Dwellers International and affiliated federations of homelandless people	
Box 3: UCDO, CODI and Baan Mankong	
Table 1: Approaches to poverty reduction in urban areas in the Global Sou	

#### 1. Introduction

The most important conclusion from our work is that in most urban contexts in the global South, poverty can only be reduced significantly when urban poor groups and their organizations can influence what is done by the local and national government agencies that are tasked to support them, and when they have the space to design and implement their own initiatives and then scale-up with government support. It is the learning from their own work and from each other and the demonstration to local government of what they can do that enables creative co-production with the state and larger-scale programmes to develop. And for the networks or federations of slum or shack dwellers or homeless people, co-production enables them to secure legitimacy and to gain more political influence, improved policies and a greater share of state resources.

This policy report looks forward at what international, national and local development agencies and governments can do to support urban poverty reduction. The Rio + 20 (UN Conference on Sustainable Development) in 2012 approved an outcome document entitled 'The Future We Want'<sup>1</sup>. We make the case that this has to be a future that urban poor groups want, and are allowed to articulate and develop themselves.

There are many initiatives that helped reduce one or more aspects of urban poverty (see boxes 1-3). Taken together, in all their diversity in what was done and who was involved, they show that progress is possible. They remind us of how much the innovation in this was catalysed and supported by community-driven processes. What is also notable is how many of these initiatives have received very limited support from international aid agencies and development banks. This suggests that there are institutional constraints on such international agencies and banks that limit their contribution to community-driven processes. What is equally notable is that national and local governments have offered limited support and have not always been constructive in their efforts; this all points to the critical contribution of the urban poor themselves. If they are not organized, able to represent themselves, articulate and negotiate for what makes sense in terms of contributions to their own efforts, then progressive development is unlikely to take place. But the limitations of purely local citizen contributions are also evident. If the urban poor are not organized at the city level, are not experienced in financial management and political negotiations, are not in structures that require them to think broadly rather than parochially and to be accountable to those they claim to represent, then development is likely to remain selective and exclusionary for at least some of those most in need.

It is difficult to draw general conclusions on what initiatives might be considered 'best practice' or even more modestly 'good practice' since so much of what was done was influenced by (and often limited by) the particulars of each location and its political economy. Professionals and researchers get excited by particular experiences that they think can be replicated – for instance, the community-driven upgrading programme in Thailand supported by the Community Organizations Development Institute – without recognizing the particular political circumstances and cultural factors that made it possible. But many of the initiatives that we draw on in this policy report share some 'good principles. A first such principle is explicit provision for more voice for low-income groups and more voice at the city-scale, and usually also for supporting their active engagement in developing solutions (although in very different ways). Most initiatives are built on the power and ingenuity of grassroots

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See <a href="http://www.uncsd2012.org/content/documents/814UNCSD%20REPORT%20final%20revs.pdf">http://www.uncsd2012.org/content/documents/814UNCSD%20REPORT%20final%20revs.pdf</a>

organizations and their collective capacities.<sup>2</sup> Within this, most encouraged and supported the active engagement of women; for some, this was one of their defining features.

A second shared principle is that all recognized a need to change relationships between urban poor groups (or informal settlement residents) and local government, and many have developed this into co-production. All included a strong focus on local initiatives on housing, land tenure and basic services. All sought a larger scale and impact through a multiplicity of local initiatives with this multiplicity (and groups working on them) building to effect political change. For urban poor groups, changing relations with local government – and other state agencies – this requires strong collective autonomous organizations for the reasons explored in a forthcoming volume (Satterthwaite and Mitlin 2013).

Most initiatives included great care on how money was used, to make the money they could raise (through savings and direct community contributions) and other support negotiated from outside go further. Where possible, this used loans so the repayments allowed the funds to revolve. Working at any scale above the household requires collective financial capability from the neighbourhood level up; without this, local groups will not be able to participate meaningfully in the development projects and programmes that take place to address their poverty (Mitlin, Satterthwaite and Bartlett 2011).

Mitlin and Satterthwaite (2012) identifies nine different deprivations associated with urban poverty; the figure listing these and highlighting some of their immediate causes is reproduced here (see Figure 1). We argue there that it is not possible to address these deprivations individually – effective programmes deal simultaneously with most if not all of them.

After reviewing what is being done (and not done) in regard to reducing urban poverty, we may need to add to the list of deprivations associated with urban poverty the lack of constructive relationships between urban poor groups and local government. Satterthwaite and Mitlin (2013) point to many examples of where the development of such a constructive relationship brought many benefits to low-income groups and also to the local government and to the city. To claim political voice is not enough - specific skills and capabilities are required. To be effective, urban poor groups need to be able to develop their own representative organizations and develop relationships with other such organizations and groups in their city. Such organizations need to be able to challenge the incapacity of professionals and politicians to come up with realistic solutions that meet needs and address urban poor groups' priorities at scale using available resources. Their political voice needs to be strong enough to challenge the institutional weaknesses of the bilateral aid agencies and multilateral development banks and their lack of support for effective urban poverty reduction. So here we have an expansion in our concern for urban poverty from seeing it as different aspects of material deprivation to also seeing it as the result of political and institutional inadequacies – at all scales, from small informal settlements and wards through municipalities to cities, metropolitan areas, states, national governments and international agencies

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See the comment by John FC Turner on this - whose work, writing and teaching did so much to point to more effective ways of addressing housing issues for low-income groups (see in particular Turner 1976). He noted that few of the case studies said to be 'best practice' had the level of detail needed on procedural software or technical hardware to assess their applicability in different circumstances, let alone in different fields. 'Recognizing the differences between practices, tools and principles is a necessary if insufficient step toward understanding what is "best" or, at least, "better than" and, therefore, toward knowledge of common ground defined by particular values' (Turner 1996, page 199).

Homes built on illegal. Incompetent or ineffective No credit available often dangerous sites; government limiting land to low-income Households living better quality housing availability, e.g. through groups to support in illegal settlements and serviced lots No organization inappropriate land purchase, where utilities or service providing survival too expensive house building or land-use controls providers refuse to operate income if income improvement source is lost Service providers No insurance for unaccountable to or assets or to cover Poor quality uninfluenced by health care costs and often democratic pressures Inefficiency or incapacity insecure, Inadequate provision of hazardous of service providers. Limited or and Debt repayments 'public' increasing gap between overcrowded no safety infrastructure reducing available what is provided and net housing and basic income what low-income services households can afford Dangerous jobs, with high risk of illness, injury Voicelessness and death Inadequate and powerlessnes **POVERTY** Discrimination faced by and often Income lost to illness within political **IN URBAN** particular groups on basis and injury, and health unstable systems and bureaucratic AREAS of gender, age, nationality, care and medicine costs income class/caste, ethnicity, etc. structures Economy producing Incompetent, ineffective little opportunity for Inadequate High prices better incomes or anti-poor police force protection of paid for rights through Inadequate, many the operation Absence of rule of unstable necessities Health burdens from of the law law and of support or risky undernutrition and use for poor in realizing asset base of cheaper, poor quality their civil and political foods, fuels and water rights and entitlements High levels of violence High prices paid for necessities. Short-term survival including water, sanitation, schools, No collateral for and other crime limiting asset Asset base eroded health care and transport. accessing credit to due to illness, injury building, e.g. few because of lack of public provision pay for house or and other stresses or no savings, plot, regularization children taken or shocks; limits of costs or connection out of school reciprocity within charges low-income groups

Figure 1: Deprivations associated with urban poverty and their immediate external causes

Source: Mitlin and Satterthwaite, 2012

#### Box 1: ACHR and ACCA<sup>3</sup>

The Asian Coalition for Housing Rights was formed in the late 1980s during a period of considerable innovation in Asian civil society agencies working on urban development. In 1987 there was a decision by a global network of housing professionals and activists, the Habitat International Coalition, to set up regional groups. In Asia, there was already a network of people and organizations working in this area that knew about each other because of SELAVIP (the Latin American and Asian Low-Income Housing Service) and its six-monthly newsletter in which communities shared their experiences and built up a knowledge of organizations and individuals active in Asia. 4 The first meeting of the Asian Coalition for Housing Rights took place in 1988. There was a joint agreement that the Coalition should be decentralized and bottom-up. The emphasis was on networking to support a diversity of city-based agencies, not on the creation of a further organization with its own programme and direction. The members of the Coalition included professional NGOs established and managed by architects or planners, faith-based agencies, a range of organizations within the 'Alinksy tradition' of community organising, academics from university departments specializing in urban development and the built environment, and members from other traditions including credit unions. A small office was set up in Bangkok, Thailand, to house the secretariat for the regional network: this currently has three full-time and four-part time staff.

ACHR developed several work areas as its programme consolidated. Attention was given to housing rights and problems of evictions in Asian cities. Other work included the Training and Advisory Program (TAP) which facilitated cross-country learning, exchange visits, regional workshops, exposure to key regional projects, new country action programs and research. From 2000, ACHR's work represents a more mature process and a broader scale of intervention. This included the introduction of community savings and credit activities and the development of many community development funds that have influenced new forms of development in Cambodia, India, Laos, Mongolia, Nepal, the Philippines, Sri Lanka, Thailand and Vietnam. Regional responses to the 2004 Indian Ocean tsunami developed with the promotion of community-driven relief and rehabilitation.

In 2008, ACHR launched the Asian Coalition for Community Action (ACCA) to catalyse change in Asian cities for slum upgrading. ACCA enables community groups to be the primary doers in planning and implementing projects in which they tackle problems of land, infrastructure and housing. The core activities of the programme, which account for 60 per cent of the budget, are the small upgrading projects and larger housing projects that are being implemented in low-income communities by their residents. The plans for these projects, as well as the citywide surveying, saving and partnership-building processes they are part of, are developed and implemented by the local groups. The budget ceilings for the upgrading projects are very small (a maximum of US\$3000) but offer flexibility in how community organizations use those small resources to address what they choose. The expectation is that if communities plan well and use these funds strategically to link with other resources, then these modest amounts can unlock people's power to negotiate with other actors for more resources, more land, more support. For each city involved in ACCA, there is:

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This box draws on: ACHR (1989, 1993, 2011a and 2011b), Boonyabancha and Mitlin (2012), Boonyabancha, Carcellar and Kerr (2012), and www.achr.net

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This publication, *Selavip News*, is still being produced by Father Anzorena and widely circulated. <sup>5</sup> Saul Alinksy was a labour movement organizer who developed a particular methodology for strengthening citizen groups to enable them to become empowered and challenge structural disadvantage. His tools and methods have been taken up by a number of groups around the work including those in Asia.

- US\$15,000 for at least five small upgrading projects, in five different communities in each city;
- US\$40,000 for one big housing project in each city, with a maximum of eight big projects per country;
- US\$3000 per city to cover a variety of joint development processes within the city, like surveying, network-building, support for savings, local exchanges and meetings;
- US\$10,000 per country per year for national coordination, meetings and exchanges.

The programme supports the setting up and strengthening of collaborative mechanisms to build linking, learning and mutual support structures. There are regional and national committees to link community groups, government officials and NGOs to work together to make decisions, learn, assess, advocate, build capacity and make policy. In most of the cities, some kind of joint working group has been established to provide a platform for community networks and other stakeholders to manage the upgrading and city development-fund process, to look at land issues, and to support change in the city. These city committees are seeking a new kind of partnership and participatory governance process, which is distinctive as it emerges from the development activities being undertaken in the informal settlements. Underpinning these committees are community networks that link low-income communities in the city, helping them to work together, support each other, pool their resources, learn from each other's initiatives, survey and map their settlements, strengthen their community finance systems, formulate their upgrading plans, negotiate collectively for land and for various other resources and changes, and plan joint activities in collaboration with other groups.

By October 2012, ACCA was supporting activities in close to 1000 settlements in 165 cities in 19 Asian countries. By August 2012, a total of 111 big projects had been approved with a budget of nearly US\$4 million. Funding approved for small projects totalled over US\$2 million. Community development funds have been established in 107 cities; 70 of these are cities in which fund establishment has been directly linked to ACCA investments. There are an additional 19 projects in eight countries for responding to disasters and helping communities respond effectively; US\$481,000 has been budgeted to address these needs.

The small projects both build community capability and increase the visibility of their collective potential. The small projects, placed in the public eye by the network, attract state interest and enable a negotiation between the network and state authorities to take place that results in a higher level of government contribution.

In 57 per cent of the big projects so far, the land has been provided by the government under a variety of tenure arrangements. These communities have been successful in negotiating further resources from the state. Analysing the budget shares, 4 per cent of funds have been provided by ACCA, 13 per cent from the communities themselves, 3 per cent from other sources (for example, Northern NGOs), and the remaining 80 per cent has been provided by government agencies including both local and national government.

One of ACCA's most important objectives is to develop new financial systems for low-income households that work well within the realities of their lives and that they can manage themselves. The most basic building block of a people's financial system is the community savings group, in which they build, use and manage their own resources. Community savings and credit is being practiced in 101 of the ACCA cities so far. Many city-level community development funds are emerging now, most seeded with capital from the ACCA project money. Local governments have contributed to 21 of these city funds, in eight countries.

By December 2010, in 91 cities (out of total 107) there was some kind of committee formalizing a city-community partnership. In many of the cities in Cambodia, Fiji, India, Indonesia, Laos, Nepal, the Philippines and Vietnam, the successful implementation of big ACCA projects has led local governments to initiate or agree to partner with community networks and their support NGOs to implement subsequent housing projects, and to link with other housing schemes and development projects in their cities.

Another way governments are contributing is by adjusting existing planning standards to make them more realistic, lower-cost and easier for the urban poor to develop housing which matches their needs. This is happening in several cities, but the most striking example is the city of Vinh in Vietnam, where the planning standards for redeveloping old social housing have been changed from an expensive, contractor-driven model to a people-driven model as a result of the ACCA project in Cua Nam Ward. In Laos, the government had never previously given land on a long-term lease to a low-income squatter community; the two big projects in Laos are the first cases of the government giving squatter communities long-term leases to the public land they already occupy to regularize their status. Other policy reforms have also been secured.

#### 2. What is understood by urban poverty reduction?

There is little disagreement about some aspects of poverty reduction – for instance, reducing hunger and deficiencies in the provision of some 'basic services' (such as schools and health care, water and sanitation) – although there are disagreements as to how best these are provided and paid for (and for water and sanitation what should be provided). There is also little disagreement that an important part of poverty reduction is reducing or removing the large preventable disease and injury burdens and premature death (for instance, for infants, children, youth and mothers). The Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) can be seen as targeting a range of deprivations on which there is general agreement.

Then there is the priority given to economic growth that is still held up as critical to poverty reduction. There is general agreement that low- and middle-income nations need stronger, more successful economies, although disagreement on the extent to which (and the mechanisms by which) this reduces poverty. Mitlin and Satterthwaite (2012) noted the lack of evidence for income—benefits and other benefits among most of the urban poor from economic growth. In summary, the discussion concluded that economic growth is important, but its benefits are all too infrequently shared with those who need them most. Once again, organized, representative urban poor groups are needed to change this.

There is general agreement of the validity of addressing the deprivations associated with 'living on poverty' and, as the MDGs state, seeking 'significant improvements' in the lives of 'slum dwellers'; although less agreement as to what this should entail and by whom. A large part of the health burden associated with poverty comes from very poor housing and living conditions, although this often appears to be forgotten (Mitlin and Satterthwaite 2012). For instance, the focus of external funding is often on addressing one or more particular diseases and not on addressing the housing and living conditions that underpin risks from these and from other diseases and injuries. There are nations and cities where serious attempts have been made to reduce the number of urban dwellers living in poverty (and the importance of comprehensive upgrading to this) but, in general, there are few national governments and international agencies that have seen this as a priority. Moreover when there are efforts to improve housing and basic services, these rarely include those with the lowest incomes (and the greatest needs). Such experiences highlight the difficulties in reaching those who are the most disadvantaged with sectoral interventions planned from above.

In much of this, the priorities and agency of 'the poor' or those facing deprivations that can be considered part of poverty are ignored. This can be seen in so many development frameworks that fail to engage them (and, in most, to engage with urban issues at all). It can be seen in the formulation of the MDGs too, and in the discussions underway on the Post-2015 Development Agenda.

'Success' in poverty reduction is measured by changes in indicators chosen by, and measured by, 'experts' even though massive deficiencies and inaccuracies in the data to do so have long been evident (Mitlin and Satterthwaite 2012). Indicators such as the number of persons with less than a dollar a day (now usually adjusted to \$1.25) still get repeated (and used to apparently show a dramatic fall in the proportion of poor people) even though it is known to be a very inadequate indicator of whether someone has or does not have the income needed to avoid hunger and other deprivations. These are also used at the highest levels – for instance, in the background papers prepared for the High-level Panel of Eminent Persons appointed by the UN Secretary-General to advise him on the post-2015 process<sup>6</sup>. Applying the dollar a day poverty line (whether or not adjusted a little) shows that there is virtually no urban poverty in most low- and middle-income nations<sup>7</sup>. Set a poverty line unrealistically low and poverty can disappear.

In our recent volume (Mitlin and Satterthwaite 2012), we stress how much the scale and depth of urban poverty is under-estimated by this measure. Faulty data or inappropriate definitions also lead to large under-estimations for many other deprivations. The official UN figures on improvements in provision for water and sanitation are usually presented as if these showed increases in the proportion of people with their needs for water and sanitation being actually being met – when, again, in urban contexts, the indicators on who has 'improved' provision for water and sanitation are known to massively under-state the proportion with provision to a standard that cuts down health risks and ensures convenient and affordable access. For many nations, national indicators on access to schooling and health care seem at odds with the deficiencies documented on the ground in informal settlements.

The only data on housing conditions used to monitor the MDG target that seems to have global coverage (as there are statistics for most nations) is the number (or proportion) of urban dwellers living in 'slums'. But there are serious doubts as to the accuracy of these statistics for many nations. First, there are the criteria used for defining 'slum' households. A household is defined as a slum household if it lacks one of more of 'improved' water, 'improved' sanitation, durable housing or sufficient living area (UN Habitat 2012). But, as noted previously, a large proportion of households with 'improved' water or 'improved' sanitation still lack provision to a standard that meets health needs (or, for water, what is specified in the MDGs as sustainable access to safe drinking water). If there were the data available to apply a definition for who has provision for water and sanitation to a standard that cuts down health risks and ensures convenient and affordable access, the number of 'slum' dwellers would rise considerably in many nations.

Secondly, the 'slum population' statistics show very large drops in the proportion of urban dwellers living in 'slums' in some nations (see UN Habitat 2012) for which there is so little supporting evidence. For instance, the proportion of the urban population living in 'slums' in India is said to have fallen from 54.9 per cent in 1990 to 29.4 per cent in 2009 (UN Habitat 2012). For Bangladesh, the proportion is said to have fallen from 87.3 to 61.6 per cent in this same period. Where is the supporting evidence for this? Certainly, in India there was some (official and academic) bewilderment as to the accuracy or validity of these figures. It may be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See *Poverty by the Numbers*, Working Paper Series Drafted by the High Level Panel Secretariat, Prepared for London High Level Panel Meeting, November 1-2, 2012

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See the figures on this presented in Ravallion, Chen and Sangraula 2007.

that most of the apparent fall in the slum population was simply the result of a change in definitions – as a wider range of (inadequate) sanitation provision was classified as 'improved' (IFRC 2010). Thirdly, one can only wonder at the basis for the statistics on the proportion of the urban population living in 'slum areas' that are provided for many nations for 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005, 2007 and 2009 – including nations for which there is little or no census data for the last 20–30 years.

The MDGs' desire to achieve quantitative targets and perhaps the desperate need for all the agencies involved in international development to show success mean that critical issues of quality are forgotten. What proportion of urban children, that according to official statistics are at primary schools, are at schools where the quality of teaching is poor, classroom sizes very large, the availability of basic books limited and teachers often do not turn up? What proportion of the population living in informal settlements are having to pay to send their children to cheap<sup>8</sup>, but usually very poor quality private schools because they cannot get them into government schools? What proportion of the urban population said to have access to health care services have to put up with poor quality services that can only be accessed with difficulties (and often long queues) and which often do not provide needed treatments?

Some discussions of urban poverty are extended to include some consideration of the rule of law. But this is generally seen in rather abstract discussions for nations rather than in the specifics of providing a just and effective rule of law including policing for low-income urban dwellers (especially those living in informal settlements) that also addresses issues such as the discrimination some or all of them face in access to services and employment <sup>9</sup>. Research has recorded the low opinion of low-income residents with regard to formal institutions of law that have failed them on many occasions (see, for example, Perlman 2010 for Brazil and Piper and Africa 2011 for South Africa). Some discussions of poverty recognize a longer list of services to which low-income groups should have access, including emergency services (ambulance and fire services) and disaster risk management. Cash transfers that actually reach low-income households with small increments to their income have been effective at reducing hunger and some aspects of extreme poverty and, in some nations, at considerable scale too (see, for example, Levy 2006).

Some discussions of poverty include in their definition a lack of voice, although here too this rarely gets specific in the sense of the means by which low-income groups get more voice. For instance, in elections (large sections of the urban poor population may lack the documents or legal address needed to get on the voters' register) or in holding politicians to account and in demanding and getting better services from providers (obviously impossible if unconnected – you cannot hold the water or sanitation, utility or health care facility to account for poor services if you get no service).

In all this discussion of poverty reduction, the very people whose needs are the justification for international development assistance (and national 'poverty reduction' programmes) are almost never consulted. Aid agencies and development banks do not engage them in discussions of effective measures and priorities. Some national and local governments have done so, but these examples are rare. Whether or not a particular person or household is poor is defined by external experts. It is also 'expert judgement' that defines which particular

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> These may be cheap but they can still represent a significant proportion of the income of a low-income household. When visiting Kibera, the large informal settlement in Nairobi in 2010, we were shown a large private school and were told that it cost 100 shillings a month to send a child there. *The Economist* in an article about Kibera pubished in December 2012 reported on a better quality private school than the one we visited where the cost of a place was 7,500 shillings a year although the teacher interviewed also reported that they do not expel children who cannot afford to pay these fees (the Economist 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Although there are some exceptions (see for instance Roy et al. 2004; Moser 2004).

'needs' may or may not get addressed – and this may or may not be in ways that actually help urban poor groups avoid deprivation. How many of the poverty reduction strategies (and papers) have been published in the languages spoken by urban poor groups? How many of their 'civil society' consultations took the trouble to include representatives of urban poor groups and to listen to them and then work with them and act on what they said?

Another aspect of this is that development assistance so often comes tied to particular 'expert' views of what 'the poor' need – improved cooking stoves, micro-finance, eco-san toilets, immunization, mobile phones, advice on urban or peri-urban agriculture. This is not to say that these cannot be important contributors to reduced deprivation or better health. But what we have sought to highlight is a need to allow urban poor groups and their organizations and federations to define their priority needs, as outlined in the next section.

#### 3. Another way to reduce urban poverty

There is the potential for another kind of development assistance; an alternative approach that works with urban poor women and men and their organizations. One that is oriented to their needs and priorities because they can influence what is chosen as well as its design and implementation. One that is also accountable to them as well as to governments (and when they are involved, to international agencies). One, above all, that recognizes their knowledge, skills and agency. This involves 'expert' staff from local and national governments and international agencies engaging with them, listening to them and being influenced by what they hear. Seeking interventions that respond to their priorities and their observations of what works for them – and what serves them in getting more effective responses, especially from local governments. Satterthwaite and Mitlin (2012) describe some approaches that have sought to do this and presented an experience that collectively shows that there is another way to address urban poverty that does not involve massive sums (although the trunk infrastructure needed to ensure adequate provision for water, sanitation, drainage and road access may, because of very large backlogs).

There is evidence of the effectiveness of such an alternative approach to poverty reduction – interventions that have worked with urban poor women and men and supported wherever possible their productive engagement with local governments. We have both seen first-hand the competence and capacity of urban poor groups, especially those rooted in savings groups in which women dominate both as savers and savings group managers. Sitting with these savings groups in many different cities and nations as they plan some new collective measure, discuss visits to other savings groups that want to learn from their experience, reflect on how initiatives are going and what more needs to be done (and who will do it). examine who has particular needs that require new measures (for instance help with loan repayments). Plan and implement surveys and enumerations of informal settlements<sup>10</sup> (getting the data that really does serve planning for poverty reduction and that they own). Accompanying them on visits to key people in the local government to present their priorities and discuss how local government support can help address this. Seeing how new perspectives on almost all aspects of poverty reduction get raised by their comments and analyses. Also experiencing their generosity in their willingness to share their experiences with us and allow us to sit in on their discussions. Seeing also their humour and the rich cultures from which they come. Perhaps, above all, seeing how their own savings groups and the organizations and federations or networks of which these are part have allowed them to contribute more to addressing their collective needs and empowered them to do so.

It is difficult to envisage sustained poverty reduction in urban areas without sustained pressure from below from those who suffer poverty. But this raises the issue of how to build and then sustain this pressure in ways that get positive responses. Even the larger national

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See the special issue on this topic in the April 2012 issue of *Environment and Urbanization* 

federations of slum or shack dwellers recognize that they lack the political strength to actually secure the scale of resources that they need from local government and to persuade local government and other state agencies to adopt development solutions that work for them. So their strategy is to develop local precedents that address their needs – building new housing on land negotiated or sometimes purchased from local government, upgrading, community toilets, a detailed survey and mapping of informal settlements – and with which to engage local government. When they can take the city engineer or town planner or a local politician or civil servant to see what they have built or improved and then also produce a detailed costing to show how much has been done with limited resources, it helps change the way they are viewed by professionals and politicians. Meanwhile, the federations or networks are also encouraging other member groups to try out their own initiatives. All such initiatives provide learning opportunities for those engaged in them – and for other groups who visit them. They (and what they do) need to be seen as legitimate by politicians and civil servants. So what they are seeking in this is not just a positive response but a change in their relationships with the state: to be seen as legitimate citizens with the same rights as middle-income groups in formal settlements, but also to be continuously engaged in coproduction with the state which means community influence in what is done and help in sustaining the federations and networks.

Here, there is a deliberate choice by most networks or federations of slum/shack dwellers to avoid contentious politics as they judge that this is a terrain that is disadvantageous to low-income groups. The networks or federations are certainly capable of contention where needed – for instance, where suddenly an informal settlement is marked for demolition. But this is a last resort because, from this point of confrontation, collaborative relations have to be rebuilt, negative stereotypes of the 'urban rabble' challenged, and new positive identities for the urban poor reinforced.

There is also a conscious choice to avoid being drawn into political parties. This may bring short-term disadvantages but it avoids their agendas being seen as associated with one party and thus only considered by one party. It also protects their bottom-up focus and horizontal structure; political parties demand loyalty upwards and so often want to control local organizations such as residents' associations. As they get support from some local politicians or civil servants, so this draws in more resources – and if local government supports their work, this increases the scale and scope of what can be done. So it is building on self-help activities but in ways that develop their capabilities and their relationships with local governments. Women also find that this process works for them, providing openings for their skills and resources they can mobilize, addressing their needs and priorities and opening leadership positions for them.

There are many examples of how this multiplication of local initiatives and engagement with local government has produced changes on a more substantive scale – for districts or municipalities within cities and even at city government level too. This included examples of city governments supporting their city-wide strategies (for instance, in the mapping and enumerating of informal settlements) and institutions (for instance, the City Development Funds). It also included the ways in which the strong local initiatives link together and build networks or federations able to influence higher levels of government (for instance, metropolitan government, state/provincial government and national government).

Might not this process also produce city neighbourhoods that are more convivial and more equal? Where the limited resources available to local governments support collective priorities with, and through, strong local savings groups and through this also ensure women's needs and priorities are fully included? That allows a constant process that addresses the multiple needs in informal settlements, and where each success encourages further action and collaboration? Where residents in each locality have the capacities to address particular local needs including the needs of the poorest or most vulnerable

#### individuals?

There are examples of initiatives undertaken by grassroots organizations that did not work very well. Sometimes, this is simply because local government was incapable of providing needed support. Sometimes it was because the grassroots organizations took on more than they could manage. Sometimes it was because of a particularly powerful and ruthless local community leader that would not give up or share power. There is also the need to be seen and recognized as a grassroots organization or movement. As co-production develops with local government, or as local government appreciates these organizations' capacities, they can begin to see them as contractors or NGOs and treat them as such. But given that these groups are the ones with the least resources, the lowest educational levels and the least influence on government, what they have achieved is remarkable.

The following sections look at what the international and national and local development organizations can contribute to these efforts.

## Box 2: Shack/Slum Dwellers International and affiliated federations of homeless and landless people<sup>11</sup>

As Jane Weru, ex-director of Pamoja Trust and now director of the Akiba Mashinani Trust – a Kenyan capital investment fund for the Kenyan Homeless People's Federation, explained in 2006:

"The people in Shack/Slum Dwellers International, in the leadership of the federations and in the support organizations, are mainly people who are discontent. They are discontent with the current status quo. They are discontent or are very unhappy about evictions. They are people who feel very strongly that it is wrong for communities, whole families to live on the streets of Bombay or to live on the garbage dumps of Manila. They feel strong enough to do something about these things. But their discontent runs even deeper. They have looked around them, at the poverty-eradication strategies of state institutions, private-sector institutions, multilaterals and other donors. They have looked at the NGOs and the social movements from which they have come and they are unhappy with most of what they see."

It is this discontent that has become a catalyst for change, driving the formation and expansion of this alliance of people's organizations and NGOs that together are seeking new and different ways to end homelessness, landlessness and poverty. The network emerged to bring together and built the capacity of homeless and landless people's federations and the NGOs that support them with the understanding that existing strategies will not reach scale as they do not link to the people's efforts to improve their homes and neighbourhoods, and nurture pro-poor political relationships. But like many such initiatives it did not begin with a grand plan for a transnational network, but emerged from activities in a number of places.

The first bilateral contacts that led to the formation of Shack/Slum Dwellers International (SDI) came as informal-settlement dwellers in South Africa searched for practical approaches to address their lack of political inclusion and substantive development needs. As a result of their exposure to the work of *Mahila Milan* and the National Slum Dwellers Federation in India, the women living in South African informal settlements began to organize their own savings schemes. Back in 1991, the emerging savings schemes in South Africa had linked up with a group in Namibia. Here, savings schemes had been established in 1987 when the UN International Year of Shelter for the Homeless had provided the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> This box draws on Bolnick (1993 and 1996), Baumann, Bolnick and Mitlin (2004), Mitlin (2008), Mitlin, Satterthwaite and Bartlett (2011).

opportunity to establish a revolving fund for housing linked to an existing credit union. In the mid-1990s, the South African groups began exchanges with Zimbabwe which catalysed the establishment of savings schemes and then, in 1998, the formation of the Zimbabwe Homeless People's Federation. In the same period, links between the Indian Alliance and the Asian Coalition for Housing Rights (*see below*) stimulated an exploration of savings-based organising involving savings groups from the Philippines, Nepal, Cambodia and Thailand. Federations of savings schemes in informal settlements emerged in the first three of these countries.

By 1996, a decision was taken by Indian and South African community leaders to form SDI as a network of federations of the homeless and landless in towns and cities of Asia, Latin America and Africa. These federations bring together residents in informal settlements and those living informally in established areas, enabling them to identify and realise a range of strategies to address their needs and interests. These national federations link to small professional agencies or NGOs that provide them with support services.

The core form of organization within the slum/shack/homeless people's federations that formed SDI are savings schemes – local groups that draw together residents (mainly women) in low-income neighbourhoods to save, share their resources and strategize to address their collective needs. These local groups and the larger federations to which they belong are engaged in many community-driven initiatives to upgrade informal and squatter settlements, improving tenure security and offering residents new development opportunities. They may develop new housing that low-income households can afford, and install infrastructure and services (including water, sanitation and drainage). With most savers and savings-group managers being women, these groups help address the multiple forms of disadvantage, oppression and exploitation that they face.

The federations and their local organizations learn from and support each other at the neighbourhood, city, national and international scale. These have several key components that are summarised below:

- Community exchanges as representatives from different savings groups visit each
  other. These exchanges may be experiential (for example seeing how a savings group
  has negotiated for land), related to the development of specific skills, and/or with a
  political purpose by bringing politicians, officials and community members together for
  a visit to development activities in another community, city or country. Most of these
  exchanges and dialogues take place within cities or between cities within nations. But
  international exchanges have also been important.
- Community-managed enumerations, surveys and maps create the information base needed for mobilization, action and negotiation (Weru 2004, Patel et al. 2002, Karanja 2010, Environment and Urbanization 2012). Enumerations are in effect censuses as each household is interviewed and data are collected on them and their needs, along with maps prepared to show all buildings and infrastructure. But the process of enumeration is much more than data collection. These enumerations are part of a mobilizing strategy, drawing in residents who want to participate in a locally managed identification and verification of their shacks and plot boundaries. Managing these processes strengthens existing savings groups and encourages new savings groups to form. Equally important is that once the findings are assessed, then local residents have the opportunity to set collective priorities through neighbourhood and settlement meetings.
- Projects that federation members take on to improve shelter options, including
  investment in tenure security and physical improvements, provide precedent-setting
  investments that can be scaled up. Through a set of specific activities related to

planning of land (often with some re-blocking to improve road access) and installation of services, and sometimes construction of dwellings, members of savings schemes illustrate how they can improve their neighbourhoods.

 The federations that are SDI affiliates seek a development partnership with government, especially local government. Affiliates recognize that large-scale programmes to secure tenure and provide services are not possible without government support. As most of the homes and settlements in which federation members live are illegal, such relationships are essential if security is to be achieved.

#### Strategic developments

Since SDI's inception in 1996, the network of federations that make up SDI has grown from the six founding members – Cambodia, India, Namibia, Nepal, South Africa and Thailand –to include Bolivia, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia, Zimbabwe, Sri Lanka, Philippines and Brazil. Table 4.1 provides a summary of the growth of the network. Exchanges have taken place with groups in many other countries.

Fully-fledged federations exist in the following countries:

- Asia: India, Nepal, the Philippines, Sri Lanka
- Africa: Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Namibia, South Africa, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia,
   Zimbabwe
- Latin America: Bolivia, Brazil.

Informal-settlement communities have formed savings groups in the following countries, although fully-fledged federations have yet to emerge:

- Africa: Angola, Botswana, Lesotho, Liberia, Mozambique, Nigeria, Sierra Leone, Swaziland
- Latin America: Peru.

Countries exploring options to engage the SDI network as an affiliate include:

- Africa: Burkina Faso, Democratic Republic of the Congo
- Asia: Indonesia, Pakistan, Thailand
- Latin America: Argentina.

Over time, and working with particular donors, the network of federations and support NGOs that form SDI secured access to donor funds that it is allowed to allocate itself (rather than being directed by the donors). This has had a profound impact on the network. Rapid growth in members and deepening of strategy were key results of the SDI board, <sup>12</sup> coordinators and the secretariat accessing the resources to enable the urban poor to make choices and learn from the results. These funds are now referred to as the Urban Poor Fund International (UPFI) and located in SDI's secretariat. The forerunner of the fund was initiated in 2001 as the International Urban Poor Fund and located within the International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED) and at the SDI secretariat (for a discussion of the operation of the fund based at IIED, see Mitlin and Satterthwaite 2007). These monies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The board has ten members of which two are professionals.

supported new activities and functions within SDI, including discussions about the most effective strategies for Urban Poor Funds. More significantly, the grants have helped to support the growth of the network with an increasing number of affiliates and a deepening awareness of the contribution of network activities in adding value to local development. These funds have helped to support the emergence of a number of local funds.

The core SDI network involves over 16,000 savings groups with an average membership of 70 per group. Consistent saving is, for SDI, the most important indicator of membership. This is because their interest in engaging the lowest-income urban citizens means that total savings can be a misleading indicator. Activities include information gathering and exchanges to strengthen local savings schemes. Just over 200,000 households have secured formal tenure (either individual or collective) as a result of this work. However, these figures do not include families who have greater security but not formal ownership of the land. Across the network, there are 102 agreements with provincial or city authorities which establish a dialogue with a potential for a more equal relationships between the authorities and the communities.

#### 4. Universal access to good quality basic services

The Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) were set up to make governments and international agencies focus on some aspects of reducing poverty and meeting needs for some basic services such as water, sanitation and health care. But many of the MDG targets leave the job half done – halving the proportion of people who have inadequate incomes, suffer from hunger, unsafe water and inadequate sanitation between 1990 and 2015. The MDG target for achieving significant improvements in the lives of slum dwellers was for just 100 million, which is around 10 per cent of those in need when the target was set – and for reasons that remain unclear, this only has to be achieved by 2020, not 2015<sup>13</sup>.

Would the global leaders who set up the MDGs offer piped water to only one child in a family with two children? Or, if extending piped water to an informal settlement, offer it only to half the residents – so those who are to the left of the water mains get water and those to the right do not? Of course, with global targets, offering to reach only half those in need is less acute and less personal. It does not involve a parent selecting which of their children should get preference in access to water or sanitation. But the need for water and sanitation that is of good quality and not too costly is such that its absence means that many will die young or live with disease burdens that blight their lives and their development. In addition, a focus on halving the population without access to some service will generally mean that this focuses on reaching the easier-to-reach groups and not those most in need (see Waage et al 2010). So getting halfway to a target does not mean that half the investment and effort has been made. It also points to a politics in which the powerful decide who is included and who is not – and the consequences are an exclusionary culture in which some entitlements are legitimated and others are not.

So can we really set goals and targets that leave the job half done or less than half done? Shouldn't the target be universal access to water and sanitation that is safe, convenient and affordable — universal access to good quality, affordable health care and to safety nets that really do provide safety? Memories on this seem to be short. In the 1970s, within UN processes, governments formally committed to providing safe drinking water and sanitation to everyone by 1990 and even designated the 1980s as The International Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation Decade. There were other formal commitments made by governments to universal provision for education and health care in the 1970s too.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> This section draws on ideas first developed in a blog by Diana Mitlin - http://environmentandurbanization.org/real-issue-universal-access-affordable-basic-services

The scale of the deficiencies in provision for water and sanitation in rural and urban areas is astonishing – despite all the promises, commitments and declarations made by governments and international agencies over four decades. In most sub-Saharan African nations and many Asian nations, less than a quarter of their urban populations have water piped to their premises (Mitlin and Satterthwaite 2012). Most cities in sub-Saharan Africa and many in Asia have no sewers and no covered storm drains. This includes many large cities with more than one million inhabitants. For many of the large cities that do have sewers and storm drains, these only serve 5–20 per cent of their population.

As global institutions and official development assistance agencies reflect on what should follow the MDGs, there is the opportunity to recognize this flaw. What is development if it does not involve the acceptance that every woman, man and child is able to secure the basic needs required for their good health? It is extraordinary that, in this age of prosperity, such basic values seem to have been forgotten. As the scale of the huge inequalities in housing conditions and access to basic services is documented and discussed among both government and development agency staff alike, surely a critical first step is a universal standard of basic provision: for safe, sufficient, accessible, affordable water; for accessible and affordable sanitation and drainage that reduces the risk of faecal contamination; for accessible, good quality health care and emergency services for all rural and urban dwellers? With such a commitment, the interventions described in Boxes 1–3 can be considerably more effective, sharing ideas, planning and implementing programmes at scale in ways that are able to bring lasting change.

## 5. How are low-income households going to access basic services if these are just another market opportunity?

Almost all the conventional responses to urban poverty face the contradictions between the cost of what is needed, the funding required and the very limited capacity of low-income groups to pay<sup>14</sup>. But getting full cost recovery for any form of infrastructure or service from low-income households for which they choose to pay brings great advantages. The number of households reached is not limited by the lack of subsidy. It also avoids the need for external funding. The same is true for loan finance. The expansion and extension of good quality sewers and drains to which all households connect supported by the Orangi Pilot Project Research and Training Institute was permitted by the fact that unit costs were lowered to the point that the inhabitants of each lane could raise the funding this needed. The community toilets that Mahila Milan helped design and build and now manage have charges that seek to ensure everyone can afford to use them, while providing sufficient income to cover running and maintenance costs (the capital costs were covered by local authorities). The community savings groups formed by low-income groups (including those that are at the base of the national slum/shack dweller federations) are sustained because they do not need external subsidies to function. Many of the programmes described in Boxes 1-3 have included provision of small loans that are affordable and taken up by low-income households to help with improving or extending their homes. Loans have also been widely used within many of the initiatives supported by the Asian Coalition for Community Action (ACCA) so that loan repayments extend and expand what these can support – including funding for local or city-wide development funds.

There are also the services provided by utilities or entrepreneurs in informal settlements that get full cost recovery – and may even generate substantial profits. In settlements where few,

15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> This draws on ideas first developed in a blog by Diana Mitlin on this topic – see <a href="http://environmentandurbanization.org/basic-service-provision-shouldn%E2%80%99t-just-be-money-meter">http://environmentandurbanization.org/basic-service-provision-shouldn%E2%80%99t-just-be-money-meter</a>

if any, households have toilets in their home, 'public' toilets can prove very profitable, especially if there is little competition. It is difficult to determine where and when these are valuable to low-income households and where they are exploitative. Perhaps many water kiosk operators or water vendors or enterprises providing toilets and washing facilities have aspects of both. Some families may be able to afford these services but, in other cases, families cannot afford to purchase on a sufficient scale and have to suffer the consequences. Certainly, the refusal of local government or private sector utilities to work in informal settlements mean many market opportunities for private provision for water, sanitation, health care, schools, solid waste collection – and often also for electricity and security.

In many cities, utilities and municipal authorities alike have come to realize that their interests are better served by a formalization of service delivery, irrespective of whether or not tenure security is offered. Utilities (whether public or private) are now providing piped water supplies and electricity to those living in informal settlements but charging prices that households struggle to meet – or cannot afford. Rather than 'accumulation by dispossession' (to use David Harvey's phrase) with the eviction of low-income residents from informal settlements to enable government officials and politicians (both legally and illegally) to make money from redeveloping their site, people are being integrated into the market for the benefit of the same elites. Of course, utilities should be managed in the interests of all citizens, with profits being spent on extending services and ensuring that basic services are provided to all, but there is a growing body of evidence from a range of cities that lowincome households cannot afford these services (see Dagdeviren 2008 for a discussion of experience in Zambia).

These experiences suggest that some local authorities and utilities are increasingly seeing the public provision of services as income-generating - rather than being concerned to manage these services so as to improve household well-being and provide for the public good. Mitlin and Satterthwaite (2012) show the limitations to this approach. With these costs, such services are not affordable to the lowest-income households. As a result, these households still use surface water (shallow wells and water courses), they practice open defecation if there is no affordable alternative, and they risk the dangers of illegal electricity or manage without.

Entrepreneurs have long made money from investments in industries and commercial services. This system has provided increased opportunities for many. It has helped urban centres to grow strong and, in many cases, prosperous. In recent years, the informalization in labour markets has reduced risks and increased some of these profits. Growing informalization in both employment and housing means that not much of this income is spent on formally-produced goods and services. Service payments are a way in which the formal system 'captures' the incomes of people living and working informally. On the one hand, it is fair that people pay for services and most households want legal connections. But on the other, prices have to be affordable for most people most of the time. The interventions described in Boxes 1–3 have developed local organizations and institutionalised practices able to work with local government and utilities to reconcile some of these contradictions. There are no simple, easily replicable mechanisms but there are social processes that are able to test out solutions, improve their functioning and take them to scale.

#### 6. Rethinking finance for development

This policy report suggests that there are many examples of using finance in different ways and drawing it from different sources. This includes the money mobilised by informal savings groups and the many functions this has – providing loans, supporting group capacity to manage finance and initiate their own initiatives.

Box 1 described how the Asian Coalition for Community Action (ACCA) has provided small

grants to 950 community-initiatives to upgrade 'slums' or informal settlements in 165 cities in 19 nations, but with each community choosing what to do. It also supported all the initiatives in each city coming together to assess what they could do at the city-scale – and engage the city government. Additional funds were available as loans to support larger initiatives. In many cities, this not only supported grassroots organization-local government collaboration but also led to the development of a City Development Fund in which all the active community organizations have a stake by pooling financial resources and through which larger scale initiatives can get support. ACCA supported the setting up of 107 City Development Funds.

A report on the first two years explains the principle of "insufficiency", because there is not enough development funding to "sufficiently" meet the needs of informal settlements:

"The US\$ 3,000 for small upgrading projects and the US\$ 40,000 for big housing projects that the ACCA programme offers community groups is pretty small money, but it is available money. It comes with very few strings attached and it's big enough to make it possible for communities to think big and to start doing something actual: the drainage line, the paved walkway, the first 50 new houses. It will not be sufficient to resolve all the needs or to reach everyone. But the idea isn't for communities to be too content with that small walkway they've just built, even though it may be a very big improvement. Even after the new walkway, the people in that community will still be living in conditions that are filled with all kinds of 'insufficiencies' – insufficient basic services, insufficient houses, insufficient land tenure security and insufficient money [...] the ACCA money is small but it goes to as many cities and groups as possible, where it generates more possibilities, builds more partnerships, unlocks more local resources and creates a much larger field of learning and a much larger pool of new strategies and unexpected outcomes." (ACHR 2011a, page 9)

For a civil society initiative, this was large – US\$11 million over four years. But this is very small in relation to the cost of most conventional donor-funded initiatives. And for an official aid agency or development bank to manage, this would have been their worst nightmare; imagine the staff and administration costs that would have been involved if each of the 950 initiatives had had to develop a conventional project proposal that had to go through all the stages needed for official approval? And what about the need to monitor and evaluate each of these initiatives? Furthermore, since many of the initiatives were loan-funded, what about the institutional costs of accepting and managing repayments in 19 different national currencies?

The same is true for the Urban Poor Fund International (see Box 2), which has supported over 100 initiatives that were chosen by, assessed by and implemented by grassroots organizations and federations. This, too, is small in comparison to conventional development assistance projects – some US\$17 million from 2002 to 2012. But it has supported a great range of initiatives in a great range of nations with many of these initiatives also leveraging substantial contributions from local governments. These also strengthened many federations with activities in over 400 cities and many small projects that have achieved full tenure for over 200,000 households and partial improvements for many more. Again, for any official development assistance agency, managing such a fund would be a nightmare. The key point here is how to get funding that serves on the ground development to the people and institutions that can use it well and be guided by and accountable to urban poor households? ACCA was possible because it could work with and through institutions in each nation and city. The upgrading programme supported by CODI described in Box 3 was possible because the funding was available to, and managed by, networks of grassroots organizations. The Urban Poor Fund International worked because each initiative that received funding was managed by their national and city federation.

These each show us a working finance system in which urban poor organizations have the power to decide what is funded with decisions made in this being accountable to them as well as to external funders. These also show the development of local or national funds which are also accountable to grassroots organizations. The model used by OPP-RTI on sanitation in informal settlements was different – but this was possible because the inhabitants of each lane where the sanitation was to be installed organized and helped manage the costing, the implementation and the funding. So the key issue is: where are the (mostly local) organizations on the ground that can make best use of money for poverty reduction in ways that are accountable to the urban poor, that bring in other funding sources (including the savings of urban poor groups) and that encourage and support collaboration with local authorities? The importance of the national federations or networks of slum and shack dwellers or homeless people and the local NGOs that support them is precisely that they provide this. And with their national organization, can also push for supportive national changes.

## Box 3: UCDO, CODI and Baan Mankong<sup>15</sup>

In Thailand, the failure of economic growth to reduce inequality was evident by the early 1990s. The government responded with a willingness to address the needs of the urban poor living in informal settlements, with the goal of securing more inclusive development. Drawing on earlier experience across Asia, the Urban Community Development Office (UCDO) was set up in 1992 to provide an integrated response to the needs of the urban poor, with funding windows for community strengthening, housing investment and livelihood activities.

The Thai government recognised the successes of the UCDO and in 2002 the Community Organization Development Institute (CODI) was established to continue and extend this work. While the UCDO had been located within the National Housing Authority, CODI's separate legal standing as an independent public organization provided it with greater possibilities (being able, for instance, to apply to the government budget for funds), greater flexibility, wider linkages and new possibilities for supporting collaboration between urban and rural groups. The emphasis on supporting community-managed savings and loan groups and community networks extended to 30,000 rural community organizations, and many community networks that CODI supports include both rural and urban community organizations. CODI recognized that for pro-poor development to take place, relations between low-income groups and the state had to change; critical to that change was the establishment of representative accountable local organizations. From the outset, CODI sought to bring together different interest groups, with senior government staff, academics and community representatives sitting on its board.

To further support urban poverty reduction, the government introduced *Baan Mankong* (secure housing) – a national programme for upgrading and securing tenure in January 2003. Recognising the work of CODI in strengthening local organizations, reducing poverty and addressing inequality, *Baan Mankong* was passed to CODI for implementation. The *Baan Mankong* programme channels government funds in the form of infrastructure subsidies and housing loans direct to low-income communities, which plan and carry out improvements to their housing environment and basic services. Infrastructure subsidies of 25,000 Thai baht (US\$625) per family are available for communities upgrading in situ, US\$1125 for re-blocking and US\$1625 for relocating. Families can draw on low-interest loans from either CODI or banks for housing, and there is a grant equal to 5 per cent of the total infrastructure subsidy to help fund the management costs for the local organization or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See Boonyabancha, 1999, 2005 and 2009.

#### network.

Baan Mankong was set up to support processes designed and managed by low-income households and their community organizations and networks. These communities and networks work with local governments, professionals, universities and NGOs in their city to survey all low-income communities, and then plan an upgrading programme to improve conditions for all these within three to four years. Once the plans have been finalized, CODI channels the infrastructure subsidies and housing loans directly to the communities. These upgrading programmes build on the community-managed programmes that CODI and its predecessor UCDO have supported since 1992, and on people's capacity to manage their own needs collectively. They also build on what slum communities have already developed. recognizing the large investments that communities have already made in their homes. Upgrading existing settlements is supported whenever possible; if relocation is necessary, a site is sought close by to minimize the economic and social costs to households. The programme imposes as few conditions as possible, in order to give communities, networks and stakeholders in each city the freedom to design their own programme. The challenge is to support upgrading in ways that allow urban poor communities to lead the process and generate local partnerships, so that the whole city contributes to the solution.

By 2000, when UCDO's work was integrated into CODI, 950 community savings groups had been established and supported in 53 of Thailand's 75 provinces; housing loans and technical support had been provided to 47 housing projects involving 6400 households; grants for small improvements in infrastructure and living conditions had been provided in 796 communities, benefiting 68,208 families; and more than 100 community networks had been set up. More than US\$25 million had been provided in loans, and more than half the loans had already been repaid in full. Informal estimates suggest that assets of some US\$70,000 had been generated by the projects. The special fund to help savings groups facing financial difficulties had helped many communities and community networks to manage their debts and continue their development activities.

Between its beginning in 2003 and July 2012, within the *Baan Mankong* programme, CODI approved 874 projects in 1637 communities (some projects cover more than one community), spread across some 286 urban centres and covering 91,805 households. Sixtyone per cent of beneficiaries belong to communities that were upgraded in situ with a secure long-term collective tenure. Ten per cent of the beneficiaries relocated to new sites within two kilometres of their former homes. Those communities that moved to public land negotiated long-term collective leases; the ones that moved to private land purchased it at prices they negotiated with CODI with loans made to the community cooperative. By 2012 the total number of households reached by the programme had grown to more than 25 per cent of the numbers that *Baan Mankong* targeted, but they still represented less than 20 per cent of the 600,000 families in need within towns and cities in Thailand. During the same period, grants for infrastructure upgrading and associated technical assistance and capacity building exceeded US\$147 million; and loans for land and housing exceeded US\$181 million. Nearly 80 per cent of households supported by CODI are now living in settlements that have also achieved tenure security, via long-term leases or collective land ownership.

CODI has provided an example of how governments can support an integrated approach to poverty reduction with the simultaneous building of community organizations, informal settlement upgrading, housing and income generation. The model has been important in illustrating a partnership approach with community organizations having a major role in both implementation and decision-making. The emphasis on citywide approaches that seek alliances between middle-class and lower-income residents demonstrate how to pre-empt some of the more exclusionary urban politics that have been seen in other cities. They have demonstrated the contribution of multiple community networks collaborating together to promote pro-poor urban change. While the government remains of primary importance in

terms of loan capital and subsidy finance, from 2010 the networks established their own savings-based loan funds following delays in recapitalization by the government and anxieties about the reliability of continued political support.

#### 7. Is this a new paradigm for development funding?

Perhaps it is too early to suggest that this shows a new trend or (to use a much over-used word) even a new paradigm in development. It has certain features shared with other initiatives. First, it makes funding available direct to low-income groups. But many forms of social protection now do this at the household level. Second, unlike social protection initiatives that provide income-supplements to individuals, it funds collective initiatives chosen by grassroots organizations. In so doing, it encourages them to plan and act collectively and, as noted previously, to bring this to the city-level and engage local governments. Collective action helps to ensure that the urban poor are strong enough to challenge and overcome more powerful groups who do not act in the interests of all urban citizens. Then to go further in setting up city or national funds that can continue, widen and increase support for community initiatives. The Urban Poor Fund International that has supported hundreds of community-initiatives and where the use of funding is determined by agreements made by federations of slum or shack dwellers also has these two features<sup>16</sup>. Such funds are not alternatives to social protection – rather they are a complementary mechanism designed to improve tenure security, access to basic infrastructure and services, and enhance political voice. They address components of urban poverty that are untouched by conventional approaches to social protection and welfare provision.

#### 7.1 Can aid agencies and development banks support this?

Official aid agencies and development banks were not set up to work directly with low-income communities. They were set up to work with and fund national governments. Aid agencies have to be accountable to the government that funds them (and beyond this to the voters who put the government into office). Multilateral development banks such as the World Bank and the Asian, African and Inter-American Development Banks have to be accountable to the governments that sit on their boards, especially those that provide them with funding. These funding agencies have no direct accountability to low-income groups, although these groups' unfulfilled needs are what justify their work and the funding they get. Initially, it was assumed that international funding agencies would support national (recipient) governments to address these unfulfilled needs. It was also hoped that this would support stronger economies that, in turn, would also help address unfulfilled needs through increased incomes and larger government capacity to provide the basics: secure housing, water, sanitation, health care, schools, rule of law and provision for voice.

But this has not happened for a large, and in many nations, growing number of people (Mitlin and Satterthwaite 2012). Around one-in-seven of the world's population lives in informal settlements in urban areas. In the absence of support from governments, aid agencies and development banks, individuals, households and communities have had to manage themselves. City economies would collapse without their labour and informal enterprise activities, yet city governments often ignore them or see them only as a problem. Most aid agencies have also ignored them. There has been some progress where and when low-income urban households and their own organizations and federations had some political influence – as in several Latin American nations when they returned to or strengthened democracies with political changes that included city governments that were more accountable and better funded.

This provides us with a reminder that to be sustained, pro-poor policies and practices at

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See http://www.sdinet.org/ for more details.

national and local levels need urban poor groups to be organized. In many nations, there are now urban poor organizations and federations that actually want to work with local governments and that bring their own knowledge and capacities that are so valuable in actually reducing urban poverty. These are also bringing the knowledge and capacities of women into these initiatives and, in so doing, supporting their empowerment.

If large, centralized aid agencies and development banks cannot work direct with urban poor groups and their community organizations, can they learn to work with and through intermediary institutions that are on the ground in each city and that finance, work with and are accountable to urban poor groups? As in the city development funds and the national funds organized and managed by the slum/shack/homeless people's federations? Are development assistance agencies prepared to give up sole control of the decisions and work in collaboration with these slum/shack/homeless networks and federations to reach those most in need, at scale with integrated programmes that bring effective development to the urban poor?

### 8. Will the agenda of slum and shack dwellers ever get considered?

#### 8.1 Global discussions and urban poverty

Many discussions are now underway on the development framework that will replace the MDGs post-2015. As mentioned earlier, this includes a 'High-level Panel of Eminent Persons' appointed by the UN Secretary-General to advise him on the post-2015 process. There are the many UN agencies involved in developing thematic papers for the post-2015 discussions. There are also the international discussions on sustainable development goals coming out of Rio+20 (the UN Conference on Sustainable Development in 2012) seeking to re-invigorate a concern for local and global environmental issues within development. There are also the evolving discussions on aid effectiveness within a 'High-Level Forum'. This is generating lots of discussion and material. But in all these discussions, so little attention is given to the local – to local contexts, to local government, to local organizations of urban poor groups and other local civil society groups, to local finance, to local resources, to the local data needed to inform action, to the accountability of national governments and international agencies to the residents of each locality. In addition, so little attention is given to urban populations.

Looking at the make-up of the 26 persons who form the High-Level Panel, most are working for (or used to work for) national governments - including former or current ministers, prime ministers and presidents. Several are working in, or have worked in, the large official development assistance agencies. Two represent private enterprises. The Panel is said to include 'representatives of governments, the private sector, academia, civil society and youth, with the appropriate geographical and gender balance'<sup>17</sup>. But no-one on the panel is a representative of the urban poor and their organizations and federations. Only one is from local government. Where are the grassroots leaders and the local NGOs and local governments they work with who really have contributed to meeting many development and environmental goals within their localities?

#### 8.2 Development in urban areas depends on local institutions

Almost all development interventions in urban areas are local in the sense that they depend on local institutions: for water, sanitation, electricity, piped gas (where this is available), solidwaste collection, schools, street cleaning, day-care centres, playgrounds and public spaces, health-care clinics, emergency services, public transport systems, policing and bank

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> http://www.un.org/sg/management/pdf/ToRpost2015.pdf

branches et cetera. These may be government agencies, private sector enterprises or civil society organizations or a combination of these (including co-production). Where some of these fall under the responsibility of national or state/provincial governments, their realization relies on local offices of national governments or collaborative arrangements between national agencies and local governments. So it is the performance of local (state, civil society and sometimes private sector) institutions that is so critical for meeting MDGs and most other development or environment goals.

There is a very considerable diversity between nations in the allocation of responsibility for the goods and services mentioned above between different levels of government; and, of course, in the form of local government. But in almost all nations, local government has a significant role in this provision. Wherever living standards are high, local governments have a major role in this achievement, often the primary role. This can be seen in the wide range of responsibilities they have for provision, maintenance and, where needed, expansion of infrastructure and services that usually includes provision for water, sanitation, drainage, streets, emergency services, parks and public spaces. Their responsibilities often extend to health-care services and schools and many include social protection measures (although usually with national government). They have key roles in ensuring health and safety - for instance, through building standards, land-use planning and management as well as environmental, occupational and public health services 18. They usually have key roles in disaster prevention and preparedness (UN ISDR 2012). All in all, local governments can have a major influence on performance towards meeting most of the MDGs and their targets. Good local governance is also central to democratic participation, civic dialogue. economic success and facilitating outcomes that enrich the quality of life of residents (Shah 2006). For most sectoral policies, policy, standards and oversight are often national responsibilities, while actual provision and administration are local. As Nigeria's National Planning Commission noted, 'Without state and local governments, federal programmes alone would amount to attempting to clap with one hand' (Nigerian National Planning Commission 2004, page vii). In many nations where urban poverty has been reduced, it is the increased competence, capacity and accountability of local governments that have contributed much to this – and to meeting many of the MDG targets.

National governments and international agencies are only as effective as the local institutions through which they implement their policies and programmes. Even where interventions are the responsibility of national ministries, or infrastructure or services delivered through private enterprises or international NGOs, their effectiveness usually depends on local government support, coordination and oversight; and effective local government usually depends on representative organizations of the urban poor, able to manage the local politics and ensure that scarce resources are not used in ways that perpetuate exclusion, disadvantage and inequity. In the past, these local representative organizations have been missing. But what has changed is that these groups are now in place in many towns and cities in the global South; and, in many of these, they have established collaborative relations with local government.

The UN system and the official aid agencies and development banks fail so routinely to support the contributions of local governments and local civil society organizations (including representative organizations of the urban poor) or even to acknowledge them as stakeholders. If low-income urban dwellers are considered in their discussions (and usually they are not), they are simply targets to be reached – or, occasionally with their leaders, invited to official conferences to legitimize the agenda of the organizing agencies.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> For most of these, responsibilities are shared with national government or different aspects of the responsibilities divided – for instance as national government sets regulations and standards and local government enforces them.

#### 8.3 Who will address international goals and targets?

Discussions on the post-2015 framework for development need to pay more attention to who has to act to meet goals and targets and how they are to be resourced and supported. Here, local government and local civil society have great importance.

The MDGs are very clear about what they want to achieve but say very little about who needs to act to meet the goals. Goals and targets are constructed by 'experts' who seem to give little thought to who needs resourcing to ensure these goals and targets are met. The MDG agenda is a set of technical, sectoral and macroeconomic undertakings that overlook the very local and integrated nature of social transformation (Vandermoortele 2011). Most of its goals are allocated to one sectoral ministry or agency with a technical fix rather than building local competence and capacity to address goals together. Waage and colleagues note the need to avoid goals that are 'compartmentalised into responsibilities of different line ministries nationally, sub-nationally, and locally, which means that the potential for simultaneous actions in the same location, working with the same communities and households, is unlikely' (Waage et al. 2010, page 999).

The people whose needs are meant to be addressed are, at best, passive recipients to be targeted. There is no mention of their roles or their rights to set targets and get supported to address these. Nowhere is there any recognition of the agency and capacities of grassroots groups to address the goals themselves. Yet we know from experience that these groups are often the most effective agents for their own development, that they can catalyse action from others, and that this agency is essential for these targets to be met. Perhaps more to the point, their political influence is needed to make sure that local governments also address the targets.

#### 8.4 Can international frameworks support local pro-poor agendas?

Despite the key role of local institutions in implementing and 'localizing', internationally agreed development and environmental agendas remain under-recognized and under-supported. Those who are discussing and determining the post-2015 agenda tend to be at a vast distance from local realities. When they talk about 'localizing' the MDGs, they mean at national level, not within local government or civil society. When they discuss good governance, they refer to the activities of national governments, not the vital relationships between citizens and their local administrations. When they measure progress, they use nationally representative datasets, relying on aggregate data to demonstrate success, but failing to reveal who is being left out and where they live.

In the 20 'thematic think pieces' compiled by experts from among the Task Team members – mostly UN agencies – there is so little discussion of local institutions, even in papers that discuss issues that depend on local institutions such as health, disasters, inequalities, employment and governance. There is also no mention of local governments in many of these and other papers discussing the Post-2015 Development Agenda. So it is not surprising that many national governments fail to take local organizations seriously in addressing the MDGs.

Local governments may also determine whether citizens have access to entitlements provided by national government. Especially in urban areas, where so many residents live in informal settlements, a lack of documentation (for instance, a legal address) may prevent them from getting on the voter register, getting basic services, getting their children into a school, or gaining access to government-supported health care. Local authorities may be reluctant to provide these to those living in informal settlements because they feel that this encourages the development of even more such settlements. Or high density settlements and narrow lanes may simply make it inconvenient to provide those living in such

settlements with services like piped water or waste removal. Access to these services determines whether many of the MDG targets are met for urban populations.

#### 8.5 Lack of attention to urban areas and their low-income residents

Most local governments in urban areas have failed to ensure provision of even minimum basic services and tenure security to much of their population. But this type of exclusionary partial politics is not inevitable (Mitlin and Satterthwaite 2012). The programme interventions that we introduce here have found the tools and mechanisms that enable local communities to challenge outcomes and find new and more collaborative approaches (see also Satterthwaite and Mitlin 2013). As partnerships are built and new more effective modes of urban development are identified, then improving conditions in informal settlements is possible at the city-wide scale. But just as effective local government requires strong citizen groups able to hold local politicians to account and assist with the planning and implementation of improvements, it also requires finance and supportive policy frameworks at the national level.

If we review all the papers and discussions that are part of the post-2015 processes, there is an astonishing lack of attention to urban poverty. Urban issues are not even mentioned in most of the UN-led thematic papers. Where they are mentioned, it is mainly in the context of urbanization and economic growth. Many of the MDG targets and indicators are designed for rural contexts and so under-report the scale of deprivation in urban areas. Most documents do not get the implications for poverty of living in informal settlements: insecurity, lack of services, lack of access to entitlements, high infant, child and maternal mortality rates et cetera. There is also the lack of attention to urban poverty among most aid agencies. Perhaps this is changing; there seems to be more discussion of urban poverty now including more conferences and seminars and more institutions developing urban programmes (in part because there is or may be more funding here). But how much does this involve the urban poor?

Take one example<sup>19</sup>. The 6th World Urban Forum was held in Naples in September 2012. Its theme was The Urban Future. Organized by the United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN Habitat), it included this UN agency's official programme for over 150 'networking' and other events organized mostly by international NGOs and academic institutions. One innovation that UN Habitat has pioneered within the UN system is supporting a strong focus on the importance of local governments. This is never easy in that all UN agencies are accountable to national governments who may not support the policies and practices of some local governments. But in the official events, many of the speakers were city mayors, along with representatives from national governments and international funding agencies, academics and a few NGOs.

What was absent from almost all the official events in this Urban Forum was any representation of the networks and federations of slum or shack dwellers. It is as if they have no role in defining the urban future. One possible excuse could be that they were not present (although this would raise the issue as to why they were not invited and supported to come). But there were plenty of representatives and leaders of national federations or networks of slum/shack dwellers from many nations taking part in the side events that external agencies were allowed to organize, even though there had been no UN support to get them there. And perhaps surprisingly, these side events often included presentations, not only by federation leaders but also by local government or national government staff that work with them. So in a session on alternatives to evictions organized by Shack/Slum Dwellers International, the

24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> This draws on ideas first developed in a blog by David Satterthwaite - <a href="http://environmentandurbanization.org/6th-world-urban-forum-will-agenda-slum-and-shack-dwellers-ever-get-considered">http://environmentandurbanization.org/6th-world-urban-forum-will-agenda-slum-and-shack-dwellers-ever-get-considered</a>

Mayor of Iloilo in the Philippines (Jed Patrick Mabilog) talked about the importance of his government's partnership with the Philippines Homeless People's Federation, which was then confirmed by Sonia Fadrigo of the Philippines Federation. The Mayor of Harare (Muchadei Masunda) spoke of his commitment to stopping evictions and the value of the partnership between the city government and the Zimbabwe Homeless People's Federation and its supporting NGO, Dialogue on Shelter. This was confirmed by Davious Muvindi from the Zimbabwe Federation. A session on city-wide upgrading organized by the Asian Coalition for Housing Rights included short presentations by many community leaders and local government politicians and civil servants about their partnerships. What was notable about this presentation was the scale of the city-wide upgrading initiatives all over Asia, driven by community organization and action.

It is amazing that after decades of discussion on participation and permitting 'voice' to urban poor groups, very large forums and conferences on urban issues can still be organized without engaging the urban poor – even as these events are justified by their apparent importance for addressing the needs of the urban poor. Anyone who actually listened to the presentations of these and other federation members and leaders during the World Urban Forum were reminded of how clear they are about their needs and priorities and the challenges they face in getting these addressed; but also how often these differ from our assumptions about their needs. The Mayor of Iloilo ensures that there are representatives of the Philippines Homeless People's Federation on key committees within his Government including those allocating funds and those determining infrastructure priorities. Why weren't representatives of urban poor organizations, federations and networks on the committees that organized this and previous World Urban Forums? Why are the powerful global institutions that are now developing a Post-2015 Development Agenda so reluctant to engage the urban poor direct? The formulation of the MDGs did not consult them; if it had, it would have had a much more ambitious and relevant target for improving conditions in slums.

The preparations for the Post-2015 Development Agenda will probably forget to involve the representative organizations of slum dwellers – as in the Eminent Persons panel. Those that set up this panel probably think that because there are one or two representatives from NGOs these represent 'the poor'. Or it will assume that their priorities get represented by other professional groups (experts). This has to change. As Adnan Aliani from UN ESCAP commented at the 2012 World Urban Forum, in so many countries it is no longer an issue of people needing to participate in government programmes, it is an issue of government learning to participate in and support people's programmes.

#### 8.6 Urban poverty reduction and climate change

This policy report has not reviewed the contribution to urban poverty reduction of climate change adaptation, although Mitlin and Satterthwaite (2012) include a discussion of the potential contribution to poverty of different direct and indirect impacts of climate change. Human-induced climate change will certainly increase risks to large sections of the urban poor and continue increasing risks until global warming stops. Hundreds of millions of low-income urban dwellers who are so at risk now from extreme weather, sea-level rise and disruptions to food and water supplies will see these and other risks increase. The global discussions on this are still so far from producing the agreement needed to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and avoid dangerous climate change. In addition, the scale and scope of international funding for poverty reduction will be influenced by the large and probably increasing share of development assistance (or other forms of financial aid) that will be allocated to climate change adaptation, or compensation for climate change impacts (what is now termed 'loss and damage'). Will funding for climate change adaptation contribute to reducing risks and vulnerabilities among urban poor groups (including those living in informal settlements that governments regard as illegal)? Or might it even contribute

to increasing poverty as adaptation measures displace them from their homes and livelihoods? Table 1 (below) outlines the implications for climate change adaptation and mitigation of different approaches to poverty reduction in urban areas.

Will the relations between low-income households, their associations and local government be strong enough to withstand the difficulties of more intense or more frequent storms, flooding, landslides and heatwaves in informal settlements? Will their residents be fully involved in determining the best course of action – for instance, upgrade in situ or relocate? Will the programmes to relocate those living on sites most at risk allow those being moved the influence they need on choosing relocation sites, organizing and managing the move and developing the new settlements? Or do we face increasing tensions, conflict and even violence as residents and local governments struggle to cope? Where more powerful groups get adaptation that serves them (or they move)? And where predictions of areas are risk are found to be wrong and there is loss and repeated relocation?

But this review cannot assess the implications for urban poverty reduction of climate change adaptation in the global South because, as yet, there are too few experiences to consider. There can be powerful synergies between reducing everyday environmental risks faced by low-income groups (with major contributions to poverty reduction), reducing disaster risk (with major contributions to poverty reduction) and building resilience to climate change impacts. Here, there is the potential for climate change adaptation to contribute to poverty reduction and often to mitigation too. But this is unlikely to happen unless urban poor groups have political influence and good working relationships with local governments. Almost all the poverty reduction measures introduced by the agencies whose work is described here will also help build the resilience of urban poor groups to climate change. It is also unlikely to happen unless the international funds for climate change adaptation can learn to support and work with urban poor groups and local governments; and, if they cannot, at least to support the local funds that can. Of course, as we learn more about the specifics of what risks are changing in each location, so development and disaster risk reduction can adjust to these. But it is households who no longer face the deprivations in basic infrastructure and services that are generally far more resilient to climate change.

Table 1: Approaches to poverty reduction in urban areas in the Global South and their implications for climate change adaptation and mitigation

Approach to urban poverty reduction	Direct impacts	Indirect impacts	Issues	Implications for adaptation	Implications for greenhouse gas emissions	
1: Economic growth	More employment or income- earning opportunities/higher incomes for some	Rising incomes and more people with adequate incomes	more people with adequate incomes	Government facilitating this & removing barriers for private enterprise success;	May allow those whose incomes rise to adapt but	If successful, rising per capita GHGs from expanded
2: Pro- poor/inclusive economic growth	Minor adjustments to the above that are meant to help ensure fall in poverty. May include support to informal sector and financial services that meet urban poor's needs. May include urban management efforts to improve provision of energy, transport and other basic services for economic growth and/or basic needs.	increasing demand for services and generating more taxes and other revenues	less "success" in poverty reduction than often hoped for; impact exaggerated by inappropriate measures of poverty. More difficult for external agencies to successfully support enhanced livelihoods in urban areas?	of itself, does not address risk (e.g. build risk reducing infrastructure) or increase resilience of urban areas	production and consumption. Possibilities for combining mitigation and adaptation e.g. recycling groups, densification of urban centres.	
3: "Meeting basic needs" - tenure, provision for water, sanitation, drainage, health care, schools, electricity	If done well, e.g. in effective 'slum' upgrading, reduces many aspects of poverty. Usually state-led but some successful examples of community-led and larger local government-community organization partnerships.	Can produce major health and time benefits; can support more successful household enterprises (as provision for water, electricity, roads improve)	Success depends on capacity and competence of (local) government and relations with urban poor; also on whether this resolves difficult issues e.g. tenure, good quality well-maintained infrastructure and services	Most of this should reduce disaster and climate change risk. Climate change adaptation can be integrated into this	If successful, some minor increases in GHGs from larger, better quality buildings and infrastructure. Improved public transport may lower emissions, especially with densification.	

4: Support for Housing	Assists households to get safe, secure homes with infrastructure & services	Improved social status. Perhaps more secure incomes	Relatively expensive; incremental housing cheaper but may contravene regulations. Housing units supported may go to non-poor	Depends on quality of housing and chosen site	Depends on housing design, construction quality & if attention is given to energy efficiency
5: Social protection, safety nets, measures for food security	Providing or subsidizing food or particular services or funds (e.g. conditional cash transfers) for 'poor'	Can produce significant improvements in nutritional status and health	Needs effective government structures to be able to reach 'the poor'?	Provides some low-income groups with some aspects of increased resilience but does not address large gaps in protective infrastructure  This can combine poverty reduction with risk reduction from disasters/climate change but scale and scope depends on supportive local governments and national government finances, and may also require support from external funders.	If successful, increases in consumption of lowest-income groups but scale of increase has very small implications for GHG growth; shifts to cleaner fuels may reducing GHGs from energy use. Very considerable possibilities for employment generation for urban centres that seriously address mitigation (and adaptation)
6: Livelihoods and household assets	Microfinance and market access for small scale/informal enterprises	Often needs change in attitude by government on informal economy	Many urban poor dependent on wage labour that provides very poor returns and not served by this.		
7: Rights based approaches	May address lack of rights but problems related to realization of rights often remain	May lead to improved access to basic services, and/or improved security	Assumes a strong legal process that works for low-income groups (often not there)		
8: Urban poor led initiatives – voice, services, tenure, rule of lawoften supported by social movements	Many different kinds of urban poor led initiatives have reduced many aspects of poverty. In some nations, this has produced more competent pro-poor local governments	Organizations of the urban poor with more capacity to negotiate and act	Limits in scale and scope if government is hostile to urban poor.		
9: Urban poor groups working as federations with local government	As above but scale/scope of what can be done increasing considerably. Urban poor's direct involvement improves state policies and programmes and improves access to tenure and basic services	Empowered local groups & their federations to negotiate other benefits e.g. community-police partnerships for policing informal settlements	Poverty reduction agenda widens as urban poor organizations develop partnerships with local governments e.g. city-wide surveys and maps of settlements at risk to help prioritize and support action		

#### 9. MDGs, post-MDGs and development assistance in an urbanizing world

Here are eight points for development assistance agencies to consider, if they really want to reduce urban poverty:

- 1: **Don't just set targets**, be clear about how they can be met and by whom. The MDGs and their various targets are clear about what they want to achieve (and by when) but say nothing about how. They don't set out who is responsible and capable of meeting the targets and who needs their capacity to act enhanced. Most goals and targets will not be met unless grassroots organizations and their federations and networks, as well as local governments and the agendas they develop together, are supported.
- 2: **Go back to universal targets** that include universal provision for: safe, sufficient water (which in urban areas is measured by the proportion of households with regular supplies of treated water piped to their premises); sanitation (which in urban areas is measured by the proportion of households with good quality toilets in their home or immediate neighbourhood); primary health care, schools and emergency services accessible to all (with more attention paid to ensuring good quality provision).
- 3: When considering financial support for the achievement of goals, **consider where finance** is needed, available to whom and accountable to whom. There is a danger that the post-MDG discussions just generate a new list of goals without considering the financial and other mechanisms that are needed by local government and civil society to support their achievement. There is a need for local financial institutions in each urban centre that work with and are accountable to urban poor groups. There are already many of these functioning from which to learn. The federations and networks of slum/shack/homeless people's organizations and the local governments that work with them are critical allies in this.
- 4: Have indicators that actually match goals and targets. Measurements are needed to assess whether targets are met. But some of the indicators being used to measure progress on MDG achievements are flawed for urban areas: the dollar-a-day poverty line (and its adjustment to \$1.25 a day at 2005 prices), the statistics on provision for water and sanitation and on slum populations. If poverty lines were set in each nation at levels that match the costs of food and non-food essentials and adjusted for where such costs are particularly high (for instance, in larger and more prosperous cities) it is very unlikely that the poverty reduction target has been met or will be met by 2015. This would also produce a very different picture of global trends in poverty.
- 5: Support local processes to generate the data needed for setting priorities and benchmarks and monitoring progress. This means radically changing the very basis for generating data no longer relying on national sample surveys that provide so little useful data for local actors about where needs are concentrated. There is also a need to consider how to provide data on some key qualitative issues: the extent to which there is a constructive relationship between urban poor groups and local governments, what constrains the development of representative organizations of the urban poor, and the availability of funds to support the work of grassroots organizations.
- 6: Encourage and support local governments and civil society organizations to develop their own goals and targets and to recognize their roles and responsibilities within the post-2015 development process. Agenda 21 coming out of the UN Earth Summit in 1992 had a short section on Local Agenda 21s. This is one of the few times that the key role of local governments in meeting environment and development goals was recognized. Perhaps surprisingly, the agenda for change coming out of Rio + 20 is one of the only examples of global discussions on development and environment that actually takes

local governments' roles seriously.

- 7: **Avoid vague and ambiguous statements.** Sadly, a commitment to sustainable development means nothing today unless it specifies what is meant. The term sustainable development is used to mean so many different things including even sustainable economic growth. The term 'sustainable urbanization' has also come to be widely used, but it is not clear what this seeks to sustain (and even less clear what it hopes to develop). What is needed is for the term 'sustainable development' to be used to highlight the two priorities emphasized by the Brundtland Commission in 1987: meeting the needs of the present (i.e. ending poverty) without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs.
- 8: **And what about climate change?** Somehow the issue of climate change got left out of the MDGs and their targets. Oddly enough, building resilience in urban areas to the impacts of climate change is dependent on points 1 and 2; this needs local competence and capacity, partnerships between those most at risk and local governments and basic infrastructure and services reaching everyone. It also requires finance systems that support on the ground knowledge and capacity to act (points 3 and 5).

Some of the discussions around the post-2015 Development Agenda are titled 'The Future We Want'. It would be nice if it actually was the future that those who currently suffer hunger and other forms of deprivation want.

#### REFERENCES

330.

ACHR (Asian Coalition for Housing Rights) (1989), 'Evictions in Seoul, South Korea', Environment and Urbanization, 1: 1, 89-94. - (1993), 'The Asian Coalition for Housing Rights: NGO profile', Environment and *Urbanization*, 5:2, 153-165. - (2011a), 107 Cities in Asia: second yearly report of the Asian Coalition for Community Action Program. Bangkok: Asian Coalition for Housing Rights. —— (2011b), Assessing ACCA in Sri Lanka, Bangkok: Asian Coalition for Housing Rights. Baumann, Ted, Joel Bolnick, and Diana Mitlin (2004), 'The age of cities and organizations of the urban poor: the work of the South African Homeless People's Federation', in Diana Mitlin and David Satterthwaite (eds.), Empowering Squatter Citizen: Local Government, Civil Society and Urban Poverty reduction, London: Earthscan Publications, 193-214. Bolnick, Joel (1993), 'The People's Dialogue on land and shelter; community driven networking in South Africa's informal settlements', Environment and Urbanization, 5: 1, 91-110. - (1996), 'u Tshani Buyakhuluma (the grass speaks): People's Dialoque and the South African Homeless People's Federation (1994-6)', Environment and Urbanization, 8: 2, 153-170. Boonyabancha, Somsook (1999), 'The urban community environmental activities project and its environmental fund in Thailand, Environment and Urbanization, 11: 1, 101-106. - (2005), 'Baan Mankong: going to scale with "slum" and squatter upgrading in Thailand', Environment and Urbanization, 17: 1, 21-46. (2009), 'Land for housing the poor – by the poor: experiences from the Baan Mankong nationwide slum upgrading programme in Thailand', Environment and Urbanization, 21: 2, 309-

Boonyabancha, Somsook, and Diana Mitlin (2012), 'Urban poverty reduction: learning by doing in Asia', *Environment and Urbanization*, 24: 2, 403-422.

Boonyabancha, Somsook, Norberto Carcellar and Tom Kerr (2012), 'How poor communities are paving their own pathways to freedom, *Environment and Urbanization*, 24: 2, 441-462.

Dagdeviren, Hulya (2008), 'Waiting for miracles: the commercialization of urban water services in Zambia', *Development and Change* 39: 1, 101-121.

Economist (2012), 'Boomtown slum; a day in the economic life of Africa's biggest shanty-town', London, page 73.

IFRC (International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies) (2010), World Disasters Report 2010: Focus on Urban Risk, Geneva: IFRC.

Karanja, Irene (2010) 'An enumeration and mapping of informal settlements in Kisumu, Kenya, implemented by their inhabitants' *Environment and Urbanization* 22:1, 217-40.

Levy, Sanitago (2006), *Progress against Poverty: Sustaining Mexico's Progresa-Oportunidades Program*, Washington, DC: The Brookings Institution Press.

Mitlin, Diana (2008a), 'With and beyond the state: coproduction as a route to political influence, power and transformation for grassroot organizations', *Environment and Urbanization*, 20: 2, 339-360.

Mitlin, Diana and David Satterthwaite (2012), *Urban Poverty in the Global South: Scale and Nature*, London and New York: Routledge.

——— (2007) Strategies for grassroots control of international aid, *Environment and Urbanization* 19(2): 483-500.

Mitlin, Diana, David Satterthwaite and Sheridan Bartlett (2011), *Capital, capacities and collaboration: the multiple roles of community savings in addressing urban poverty*, IIED Poverty Reduction in Urban Areas, Working Paper No. 34, London: International Institute for Environment and Development.

Moser, Caroline (2004), 'Editorial: Urban violence and insecurity: an introductory roadmap', *Environment and Urbanization*, 16: 2, 3-15.

Nigerian National Planning Commission (2004), *Meeting Everyone's Needs; National Economic Empowerment and Development Strategy*, Abuja: Nigerian National Planning Commission.

Patel, Sheela, Celine d'Cruz and Sundar Burra (2002), 'Beyond evictions in a global city: peoplemanaged resettlement in Mumbai', *Environment and Urbanization* 14: 1, 159–172.

Perlman, Janice (2010), Favela: Four decades of living on the edge in Rio de Janeiro, New York: Oxford University Press.

Piper, Laurence and Cherrel Africa (2011), 'Unpacking race, party and class from below: Surveying citizenship in the Msunduzi municipality', *Geoforum* 43: 2, 219-229.

Ravallion, Martin, Shaohua Chen and Prem Sangraula (2007), *New Evidence on the Urbanization of Global Poverty*, WPS4199, Washington, DC: World Bank.

Roy, A N, Jockin Arputham and Ahmad Javed (2004), 'Community police stations in Mumbai's slums', *Environment and Urbanization*, 16: 2, 135-138.

Satterthwaite, David and Diana Mitlin (2013 forthcoming) *Reducing Urban Poverty in the Global South*. London and New York: Routledge

Shah, Anwar (ed) (2006), *Local Governance in Developing Countries*, Public Sector Governance and Accountability Series, Washington DC: World Bank.

Turner, John (1976), *Housing By People – Towards Autonomy in Building Environments, Ideas in Progress*, London: Marion Boyars.

Turner, John (1996), 'Seeing tools and principles within "best" practices', *Environment and Urbanization*, 8: 2, 198-199.

UN-Habitat (2012), *State of the World's Cities Report 2012/2013: Prosperity of Cities*, Nairobi: United Nations Human Settlements Programme.

UN-ISDR (2012), Making Cities Resilient Report 2012; a Global Snapshot of how Local Governments Reduce Disaster Risk, Geneva: The United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction.

Vandermoortele, Jan (2011), 'The MDG story: Intention denied', *Development and Change* 42: 1, 1-21.

Waage, J. *et al.* (2010), 'The Millennium Development Goals: a cross-sectoral analysis and principles for goal setting after 2015', *Lancet and London International Development Centre Commission.* 

Weru, Jane (2004), 'Community federations and city upgrading: the work of Pamoja Trust and Muungano in Kenya', *Environment and Urbanization* 16: 1, 47-62.

#### Recent publications by IIED's Human Settlements Group

#### **WORKING PAPER SERIES**

All working papers can be downloaded at no charge. For a complete list, see <a href="http://pubs.iied.org/search.php?k=&t=&a=&w=HS">http://pubs.iied.org/search.php?k=&t=&a=&w=HS</a>

#### **URBAN POVERTY**

<u>Urban poverty, food security and climate change</u> - Cecilia Tacoli with Budoor Bukhari and Susannah Fisher (2013)

<u>Urbanization, gender and urban poverty: paid work and unpaid carework in the city</u> – Cecilia Tacoli (2012)

<u>Engaging with the urban poor and their organizations for poverty reduction and urban governance:</u> An issues paper for the United Nations Development Programme - David Satterthwaite, Diana Mitlin and Sheela Patel (2011)

Appropriateness of the Sri Lanka poverty line for measuring urban poverty: The case of Colombo - Kulasabanathan Romeshun and Geetha Mayadunne (2011)

<u>Capital, capacities and collaboration: the multiple roles of community savings in addressing urban poverty</u> – Diana Mitlin, David Satterthwaite and Sheridan Bartlett (2011)

<u>Understanding pro-poor housing finance in Malawi</u> - Mtafu A.Z. Manda, Siku Nkhoma and Diana Mitlin (2011)

Interrogating Urban Poverty Lines - the Case of Zambia - Miniva Chibuye (2011)

<u>Assessing the Scale and Nature of Urban Poverty in Buenos Aires</u> – Jorgelina Hardoy with Florencia Almansi (2011)

<u>Broadening Poverty Definitions in India: Basic Needs in Urban Housing</u> - S. Chandrasekhar and Mark R. Montgomery (2010)

<u>Poverty lines in Greater Cairo: Underestimating and Misrepresenting Poverty</u> –Sarah Sabry (2009)

<u>Poverty Lines and Lives of the Poor: Underestimation of Urban Poverty, the case of India</u> – Meera Bapat (2009)

<u>Community Finance: the News from Asia and Africa</u>. Report of a workshop held in November 2007 – Asian Coalition for Housing Rights (2008)

Urban Poor Funds; Development by the People for the People – Diana Mitlin (2008)

<u>Building Homes, Changing Official Approaches: the Work of Urban Poor Federations and their Contributions to Meeting the Millennium Development Goals in Urban Areas</u> – Celine D'Cruz and David Satterthwaite (2005)

<u>Catalysing Pro-Poor Development; the Role of Savings and Savings Organizations: Key Issues arising from an International Workshop on Housing Finance and Poverty</u> – Diana Mitlin (2005)

<u>The Under-estimation of Urban Poverty in Low- and Middle-income Nations</u> – David Satterthwaite (2004)

#### **RURAL-URBAN**

<u>Urban poverty, food security and climate change</u> - Cecilia Tacoli with Budoor Bukhari and Susannah Fisher (2013)

International migration and over-indebtedness: the case of Filipino workers in Italy - Charito Basa, Violeta De Guzman and Sabrina Marchetti (2012)

<u>Climate change, adaptation strategies and mobility: evidence from four settlements in Senegal / Changements climatiques, stratégies d'adaptation et mobilités. Evidence à partir de quatre sites au Sénégal</u>- Mohamadou Sall, Al Assane Samb, Serigne Mansour Tall and Aly Tandian (2011)

<u>Rural migration in Bolivia: the impact of climate change, economic crisis and state policy</u> - Carlos Balderrama Mariscal, Nico Tassi, Ana Rubena Miranda, Lucía Aramayo Canedo, Iván Cazorla (2011)

Not only climate change: mobility, vulnerability and socio-economic transformations in environmentally fragile areas in Bolivia, Senegal and Tanzania – Cecilia Tacoli (2011)

International Migration, Social Change and Local Governance in Ourossogui and Louga, Two Small Urban Centres in Senegal – Mohamadou Sall, Serigne Mansour Tall, Aly Tandian, Al Assane Samb, Abdou Khadre Sano and Souleymane Sylla (2010)

<u>Migration, Local Development and Governance in Small Towns: Two Examples from the Philippines</u> – Charito Basa and Lorna Villamil with Violeta de Guzman (2009)

<u>Migration and Small Towns in China: Power Hierarchy and Resource Allocation</u> – Bingqin Li and Xiangsheng An (2009)

Migration and Small Towns in Pakistan - Arif Hasan and Mansoor Raza (2009)

<u>Urbanization and Rural Development in Viet Nam's Mekong Delta: Livelihood Transformations in Three Fruit Growing Settlements</u> - Hoang Xuan Thanh, Thi Thu Phuong Dinh, Thu Huong Nguyen and Cecilia Tacoli (2008)

<u>Toward Synergistic Rural–Urban Development: the Experience of the Rural–Urban Partnership Programme (RUPP) in Nepal</u> – S.F. Momen (2006)

Rural-Urban Migration in China: Policy Options for Economic Growth, Environmental Sustainability and Equity – Gordon McGranahan and Cecilia Tacoli (2006)

<u>Livelihood Diversification and Rural-Urban Linkages in Vietnam's Red River Delta</u> – Anh, Dang Nguyen, Hoang Xuan Thanh and Cecilia Tacoli (2005)

<u>Rural-Urban Change, Boundary Problems and Environmental Burdens</u> – Gordon McGranahan, David Satterthwaite and Cecilia Tacoli (2004)

#### **WATER AND SANITATION**

<u>Groundwater, Self-supply and Poor Urban Dwellers: A Review with Case studies of Bangalore and Lusaka</u> – Jenny T. Gronwall, Martin Mulenga and Gordon McGranahan (2010)

<u>Urban Water and Sanitation in Ghana: How Local Action is Making a Difference</u> - Kanton I. Osumanu, Lukman Abdul-Rahim, Jacob Songsore and Farouk R. Braimah with Martin Mulenga (2010)

Improving Water and Sanitation Provision in Buenos Aires: What can a Research-oriented NGO do? – Florencia Almansi, Ana Hardoy and Jorgelina Hardoy (2010)

<u>Water Service Provision for the Peri-urban Poor in Post-conflict Angola</u> – Allan Cain and Martin Mulenga (2009)

Water and Sanitation in Urban Malawi: can the Millennium Development Goals be Met? A Study of Informal Settlements in Three Cities – Mtafu A. Zeleza Manda (2009)

<u>Lessons from Karachi: The role of Demonstration, Documentation, Mapping and Relationship</u>
<u>Building in Advocacy for Improved Urban Sanitation and Water Services</u> – Arif Pervaiz, Perween Rahman and Arif Hasan (2008)

<u>Local Water and Sanitation Companies and the Urban Poor</u> – Gordon McGranahan and David Lloyd Owen (2006)

<u>Informal Water Vendors and the Urban Poor</u> – Marianne Kjellén and Gordon McGranahan (2006)

<u>Governance and Getting the Private Sector to Provide Better Water and Sanitation Services to the Urban Poor</u> – Gordon McGranahan and David Satterthwaite (2006)

#### **URBAN CHANGE**

<u>Africa's Urban Transition and the Role of Regional Collaboration</u> – Gordon McGranahan, Diana Mitlin, David Satterthwaite, Cecilia Tacoli and Ivan Turok (2009)

<u>The Transition to a Predominantly Urban World and its Underpinnings</u> – David Satterthwaite (2007)

<u>Urban Environments, Wealth and Health: Shifting Burdens and Possible Responses in Low and Middle-income Nations – Gordon McGranahan (2007)</u>

Outside the Large Cities: the Demographic Importance of Small Urban Centres and Large Villages in Africa, Asia and Latin America – David Satterthwaite (2006)

A Pro-poor Urban Agenda for Africa; Clarifying Ecological and Development Issues for Poor and Vulnerable Populations. A Report for the Ford Foundation - Joel Bolnick, Happy M Kayuni, Richard Mabala, Gordon McGranahan, Diana Mitlin, Sikhulile Nkhoma, John Oucho, Amal Sabri, Sarah Sabry, David Satterthwaite, Mark Swilling, Cecilia Tacoli, Richard I C Tambulasi and Mirjam van Donk (2006)

#### **CLIMATE CHANGE AND CITIES**

<u>Understanding the nature and scale of urban risk in low- and middle-income countries and its implications for humanitarian preparedness, planning and response</u> - David Dodman, Donald Brown, Katie Francis, Jorgelina Hardoy, Cassidy Johnson and David Satterthwaite (2013)

<u>Urban poverty, food security and climate change</u> - Cecilia Tacoli with Budoor Bukhari and Susannah Fisher (2013)

<u>Climate change impacts, vulnerability and adaptation in Zimbabwe</u> – Donald Brown, Rabecca Rance Chanakira, Kudzai Chatiza, Mutuso Dhliwayo, David Dodman, Medicine Masiiwa, Davison Muchadenyika, Prisca Mugabe and Sherpard Zvigadza (2012)

<u>Community-driven Disaster Intervention: Experiences of the Homeless People's Federation</u> <u>Philippines, Incorporated (HPFPI)</u> – Jason Christopher Rayos Co (2010)

<u>Towards Pro-poor Adaptation to Climate Change in the Urban Centres of Low and Middle-income Countries</u> – Caroline Moser and David Satterthwaite (2008)

<u>Climate Change and Urban Children: Impacts and Implications for Adaptation in Low and Middle-Income Nations</u> – Sheridan Bartlett (2008)

<u>Adapting to Climate Change in Urban Areas: the Possibilities and Constraints in Low- and Middle-income Nations</u> – David Satterthwaite, Saleemul Huq, Hannah Reid, Mark Pelling and Patricia Romero Lankao (2007)

**URBANIZATION & EMERGING POPULATION** (Joint series with the United Nations Population Fund)

<u>Land ownership, control and contestation in Karachi and implications for low-income housing</u> - Arif Hasan, Noman Ahmed, Mansoor Raza, Asiya Sadiq, Saeed ud Din Ahmed and Moizza B. Sarwar (2013)

<u>Urbanization and development: Policy lessons from the BRICS experience</u> – Gordon McGranahan and George Martine (2012)

<u>Russian urbanization in the soviet and post-soviet eras</u> – Charles Becker, S Joshua Mendelsohn and Kseniya Benderskaya (2012)

<u>Urbanisation and Development in South Africa: Economic Imperatives, Spatial Distortions and Strategic Responses</u> – Ivan Turok (2012)

<u>Urbanization, gender and urban poverty: paid work and unpaid carework in the city</u> – Cecilia Tacoli (2012)

<u>Trends and Processes of Urbanisation in India</u> - Amitabh Kundu (2011) <u>China's Post-Reform Urbanization: Retrospect, Policies and Trends</u> - Anthony G.O. Yeh, Jiang Xu and Kaizhi Liu (2011)

<u>Brazil's Early Urban Transition: What can it Teach Urbanizing Countries?</u> – George Martine and Gordon McGranahan (2010)

<u>Planning for High Density in Low-income Settlements: Four Case Studies from Karachi</u> – Arif Hasan, Asiya Sadiq and Suneela Ahmed (2010)

<u>The Food Price Crisis and Urban Food (in)security</u> – Marc J. Cohen and James L. Garrett (2009)

<u>Is Urbanization Contributing to Higher Food Prices?</u> – Jesper Stage, Jørn Stage and Gordon McGranahan (2009)

#### OTHER HUMAN SETTLEMENTS PUBLICATIONS

<u>The Demography of Adaptation to Climate Change</u> – George Martine and Daniel Schensul (2013) (a joint UNFPA-IIED and El Colegio de Mexico publication)

<u>Assessing the Costs of Adaptation to Climate Change. A Review of the UNFCCC and Other</u>
<u>Estimates</u> - Martin Parry, Nigel Arnell, Pam Berry, David Dodman, Samuel Fankhauser, Chris Hope, Sari Kovats, Robert Nicholls, David Satterthwaite, Richard Tiffin and Tim Wheeler (2009)

<u>Population Dynamics and Climate Change</u> edited by José Miguel Guzmán, George Martine, Gordon McGranahan, Daniel Schensul and Cecilia Tacoli (2009) (A joint UNFPA-IIED publication)

#### **BOOKS**

<u>Urban Poverty in the Global South</u> by Diana Mitlin and David Satterthwaite (2013)

Adapting Cities to Climate Change: Understanding and Addressing the Development Challenges, edited by Jane Bicknell, David Dodman and David Satterthwaite (2009)

<u>The New Global Frontier: Urbanization, Poverty and Environment in the 21st Century</u>, edited by George Martine, Gordon McGranahan, Mark Montgomery and Rogelio Fernández-Castilla (2008)

<u>Scaling Urban Environmental Challenges; From Local to Global and Back</u>, edited by Peter J Marcotullio and Gordon McGranahan (2007)

The Earthscan Reader on Rural-Urban Linkages, edited by Cecilia Tacoli (2006)

Water and Sanitation in the World's Cities 2006; Meeting Development Goals in Small Urban Centres, prepared for UN–Habitat by IIED (2006)

Empowering Squatter Citizen: Local Government, Civil Society and Urban Poverty Reduction, edited by Diana Mitlin and David Satterthwaite (2004)

Water and Sanitation in the World's Cities: Local Action for Global Goals, UN-Habitat Report prepared by Gordon McGranahan and David Satterthwaite (2003)

<u>Air Pollution and Health in Rapidly Developing Countries</u>, edited by Gordon McGranahan and Frank Murray (2003)

<u>The Citizens at Risk: From Urban Sanitation to Sustainable Cities</u> – Gordon McGranahan, Pedro Jacobi, Jacob Songsore, Charles Surjadi and Marianne Kjellén (2001) <u>Environmental Problems in an Urbanizing World: Finding Solutions for Cities in Africa, Asia and Latin America</u> – Jorge E Hardoy, Diana Mitlin and David Satterthwaite (2001)

<u>Cities for Children: Children's Rights, Poverty and Urban Management</u> – Sheridan Bartlett, Roger Hart, David Satterthwaite, Ximena de la Barra and Alfredo Missair (1999)

The Earthscan Reader in Sustainable Cities, edited by David Satterthwaite (1999)

<u>The Environment for Children</u> – David Satterthwaite, Roger Hart, Caren Levy, Diana Mitlin, David Ross, Jac Smit and Carolyn Stephens (1996)

Squatter Citizen: Life in the Urban Third World – Jorge E Hardoy and David Satterthwaite (1989)

#### **ENVIRONMENT AND URBANIZATION**

A twice-yearly journal published since 1989, this is one of the most cited and widely distributed international journals on urban issues. Each issue has a special theme and includes 9–14 papers and some include a guide to the literature on that theme. It also has a special section of papers on climate change and cities (since 2007), profiles of innovative NGOs (in some issues)

and Book Notes – which includes summaries of new books, research reports and newsletters and how these can be obtained (including those in Spanish, French and Portuguese).

For more details, see <a href="http://www.environmentandurbanization.org/">http://www.environmentandurbanization.org/</a>

The on-line edition is at <a href="http://eandu.sagepub.com/">http://eandu.sagepub.com/</a> The full text of all papers in all issues (from the first issue in 1989) are available on-line at this site and all but the issues from the last two years are available at no charge. From this site, subscriptions and back issues can be purchased and searches made. There is also a list with the theme of each issue.

Environment and Urbanization Briefs: A five page summary of each issue of Environment and Urbanization is available in print and electronically; to receive this, e-mail Hannah.Bywaters@iied.org. All Briefs can be downloaded from <a href="http://pubs.iied.org/search.php?s=EUB">http://pubs.iied.org/search.php?s=EUB</a>

Please contact <a href="mailto:humans@iied.org">humans@iied.org</a> for any publication queries or to request copies.

#### **HUMAN SETTLEMENTS GROUP**

**IIED** is an independent, non-profit organisation promoting sustainable patterns of world development through collaborative research, policy studies, networking and knowledge dissemination. **The Human Settlements Group** works with partners to help establish better governed, more sustainable cities in low- and middle-income nations, able to offer secure shelter, access to services and reduced vulnerability to environmental hazards.

The work of the Human Settlements Group is organised under the following objectives:

- Achieving socially and environmentally beneficial urbanisation
- Reducing urban poverty
- Adapting cities to climate change
- Securing rural-urban synergies

The Group publishes the international journal *Environment and Urbanization*, Working Paper Series and books on urban environment and development issues, as well as a wide variety of articles in academic and other journals.

The Group has longstanding links with an affiliate organisation, IIED-América Latina in Buenos Aires, Argentina, as well as a number of long term partners in other cities in Asia, Africa and Latin America.

Downloadable publications as well as other communications can be accessed at **www.iied.org** 



International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED) 80-86 Gray's Inn Road, London WC1X 8NH, UK

